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This Operating Review is intended to provide existing and
potential shareholders witha goed understanding of our
business. It autlines our performance during the financial
year to 31 March 2005; provides information onour
strategy and objectives; sets out our view of the current
state and likely development of our industry; discusses the
regulatory environment within which we operate; and
describes our framework for running the business.

Overview of the UK's mobile industry

Growthinthe UK mobile industry continues to exceed
expectations, driven by growthin consumer take-up of
multiple devices, the ongoing structural shift from fixed
towireless, and increasing adoption of new services. While
penetration of mobile phones inthe UK (measured in SIM
connections) passed 100% in 2004, these factors and
ongoing technological advances are expected to deliver
growth that outpaces average economic growth.

While the UK market is competitive, market conditions
are promising. Total UK wireless minutes increased by
16% in 2004". Only 29% of the UK's cutbound voice traffic
was carried over wireless networks in 2004, up from

26% the previous year.
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GROWTH INTHE UK MOBILE
INDUSTRY CONTINUES TO EXCEED
EXPECTATIONS,DRIVENBY GROWTH
IN CONSUMERTAKE-UP OF MULTIPLE
DEVICES, THE ONGOING STRUCTURAL
SHIFT FROM FIXED TOWIRELESS,
AND INCREASING ADOPTION OF

NEW SERVICES.

The shift from fixed to wireless is set to continue-a
particularly important trend in the youth market, as more
and more young peopte turn to their mobile as their primary
phone.We think Virgin Mabile is ideally positioned to take
advantage of this and other UK growth opportunities.

Over the past few years, there have been a number of new
entrants to the UK mobile market, causing concerns about
aggressive pricing among market commentators. Thus far,
competitive pricing in the market has tended to be about
tariff headlines, achieved by slicing and dicing rates
offeredfor particular types of calls or messages. These
types of complex pricing initiatives do not tend to induce
across-industry response, butrather fuel anincreasing
scepticism among consumers toward tariffing claims.




OUR CORE PREPAY MARKETIS A
VERY EXCITING PLACETOBE, WITH
REAL POTENTIAL FORGROWTH.

Within this environment, our approach to pricing remains
the same: to give our customers value for moneyina
straightforward and clear way. We do this by common
sense pricing structures such as our daily declining call
rates, having the only prepay bundles that allow unused
minutes to be used the next month, and most recently the
Virgin Mobile Pay Monthly contract package that has no
month-13 catch.

While new entrants continue to come into the marketplace,
VirginMobile’s performance goes from strength to
strength. Success in the UK mobile marketisbasedona
combination of factors, rather than onprice alone. As
markets mature, our key strengths — great customer
service, deep consumer insight and a strong brand image -
areincreasingly powerful differentiators.

We've thrived in this competitive marketplace since our
launch five years ago. Our core prepay market is avery
exciting place to be, with real potential fgr growth. Virgin
Mabile's five million prepay connections represent only
around 14% of the totat prepay market of 36 million. Total
market churnin 2004 was approximately 28%!, providing
asubstantial addressable market for us. In addition, the
previously untapped contract market is highly attractive:
twenty million subscribers who account for twao thirds of
totalmobile service revenues in the UK. Within a very active
UK mobile market, our continuingmomentumin prepay and
our expansion into the contract market translate into
compelling growth opportunities.
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The business, its objectives and its strategy
Our Strategy
At the time of our [PO, we set out a clear aim to grow the
business rapidly. and a defined strategy to achieve this:
—continue strong growth in customers and revenues;
—increase customer spending through product inrovation;
~expand our efficient distribution network and
customer reach;
—exploit our business model to continue to detliver
high cashreturns; and
- leverage our brand strength
-explareinternational opportunities

in the past year, we made significant, tangible progress
ineach of these areas. in the short term, our principal
focus remains on exploiting the clear opportunities open

_ tousinthe UK prepay market, and on steady expansion

into the contract market. We will alsa explore international
apportunities in the medium term, subject to market
attractiveness andrigorous investment criteria.

The following section outlines the operational and financial
progress we made during the year.

1 Saurce: Strategy Analytics, December 2004




Continue strong growthin customers and revenues

Virgin Mobile has produced very robust growth in customer
numbers withina competitive environment, as aresult

of our great value and innovation, superior consumer
marketing, broad customer reach, strong brand and the
best customer care in the industry. Total SIM connections
reached 5,359,900 (FY(4: 3,961,500]). Our active custorner
base grew to 4,031,800 (FY04:3,241,400),a24.4%
increase from a year ago.

Churnwas higherat 17.5%(FY04:14.0%), in line with
industry trends. While being a well-understood cost of
business, churnis also animportant growth driver for
VirginMobile, as we continue to attract customers
away from our competitors.

During the year our growth was derived exclusively from
the prepay market; our contract market product, Virgin
Mobile Pay Monthly, was launched in May 2005, extending
our presenceinto the largest market segment by revenue.
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Rapidly increasing service offering

The expansion of our productrange is akey driver of
growth for Virgin Mobile, and we have made significant
progress during the year. Our innovative approach to
product development continues to differentiate us
inthe marketplace.

-1In August 2004 we launched Virgin Mobile BITES,
our cutting edge entertainment service and the platform
for the delivery of value-added multimedia services.

As atonsequence, valus-added servicesrevenuerose
by over 90% during the year.

—In October 2004, we launched Bundles, a platformwhich
allows us to target a number of consumer segments. The
Bundles product offers customers high-value bundles of
voice minutes, texts, and picture messaging. This product
enablesus to target high-vatue prepay customers, both
those new to Virgin Mobile and by offering value to our
existingbase.This important capability also serves as a
technological platformfor entry into the contract market.

~inNovember 2004, we launched our Hassle-free package,
offering eight months’worth of minutes and texts
packagedwitharange of handsets. Thisis yet another
example of our innovative approach to marketing,
providing consumers with contract-type value without
theneedto signacontract.

-Therecentintroduction of our Line Rental Rescue Kit
served as the next phase of development for our contract
platform, offering contract customers on other networks
a simple way to transfer their phones to Virgin Mabile at
animproved price.

=0n1May 2005, Virgin Mobile announced the next phase
of its evolution with the launch of 'VirginMobile Pay
Monthly, our entry into the contract market. This launch
opens anavenue of substantial growth; the contract
market represents approximately one third of mabile
customers and two thirds of total mobile revenues
inthe UK.




Expanding Customer Reach

Effective distribution has beenkey to our performance
throughout our operatinghistory. In 2005, we continued
to expand our distribution network in a highly efficient
manner.

~We grew our total distribution network by 20%, adding
our products to approximatety 1,000 new outlets. Virgin
Mobile products are now available from approximately
6,000 outlets throughout the UK.

~VirginMobile Stores now number 104, from 85 at HI FY05
andjusttenayear ago. This phase of the Virgin Mobile
Storerotloutis now complete, with ongoing opportunities
for further expansion as the Virgin Megastores network
grows. Our Stores continue to be a very effective
distribution channel for VirginMobile, attracting high
value customers.

- We expanded the Virgin Mobile Store concept in October
2004 with apilot at eight WH Smithlocations. We will
continue to explore opportunities to further expand
the Virgin Mobile Stores on the high street.

- We established an independent dealer network of 600
outlets, supplied through a number of distributors. We
have atso begun to distribute our products to dealers
directly. This new channelhas made a significant
contribution to connections during the year.

-Thelnternetis also avery effective distribution point for
Virgin Mobite. Anumber of Internet-based marketing
initiatives during the year were very successfid, and we
will continue to develop this important, cost-effective
distribution channel.
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ANESSENTIAL COMPONENT OF QUR
BRAND STRATEGY IS PROVIDING
EXCELLENT CUSTOMER SERVICE.

Leveragingour brand strength

Virgin Mobile’s brandis animportant asset for the

Company, allowing us to achieve broad consumer appeal

withrelatively low investment. Our total advertising and

marketing spend for FY 2005 was just 4.4% of sales.

We won a number of marketing awards during the period,

demonstrating our brand’s effectiveness:

- The top Gold Award at the IPA Advertising Effectiveness
Awards 2004

- Best Ad Campaign for‘idle Thumbs'at the Mobile Choice
Consumer Awards in October 2004.

An essential component of our brand strategy is providing

superior customer service. We consistently receive the

highestratings inthe UK mobile market for our customer

care, and we are delighted to have once againbeen

recagnised during the year in this important area.

~We achieved the highest customer satisfaction rating
inthe prepay market inthe JD Power & Associates
survey for 2004 and 2005, our first two years of
inclusion. Our customer service rating inthe survey
was substantially ahead of all of our competitors.

-We also won Best Customer Service for the fourthyear
inarow at the Mobile Choice Consumer Awards 2004.




DURING THE YEARWE WERE ABLE

TO SUCCESSFULLY GROW TOP-LINE
REVENUE AT INDUSTRY-LEADING
RATES, GROW BOTTOM-LINE PROFITS
ATIMPROVED MARGINS AND
PROPOSE A MAIDEN DIVIDEND.

Exploit our business model to continue

todeliver high cash returns

Highcash conversion is amajor strength of our business
madel. During the year, strongrevenue growthandlow
levels of operational and capital expenditure generated
operating free cash flow of £84.5 million. White this
reflected a decline in operating free cash flow margin,
the like-for-like marginincreased by 2 percentage points,
excluding the impact of a one-off employee bonus
payment of £23.5 million in 2004.

The uniqueness of our business modelis highlighted

by the 27% decline in our capital expenditures to

£10.8 million, representing only 2.1% of revenues. We
were able toreduce our capex withina period of intense
development, in which we added the bundles platform
capability andlaunched anumber of new products,
including GPRS, MMS, Virgin Mobile BITES and Bundtes.

During the year we were able to successfully grow top-line
revenue at industry-leadingrates, grow bottom-line profits
atimproved margins and propose amaiden dividend.

We believe that our ability to invest in the future growth

of our business while still growing profits and generating
returns for shareholdersis akey differentiator for
VirginMobile.
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Outlook

Our strateqy to drive strong growth by leveraging our
brand and differentiated approach to the market remains
at the heart of our plans for the coming year. We further
intend to maintain the firm operational discipline we have
embedded throughout the organisation.

Revenue

During the forthcoming year we expect to continue to take
advantage of growth opportunities inthe UK and deliver
mid-teens percentage year-an-year service revenue
growth. This represents superior top-line growth, We will
achieve this by continuing to drive growthin the prepay
market while increasing our product reach and building
onour contract offer followingits successfultaunch
on1May 2005.

Earnings

Exceptional operationalleverage has been a highlight of
the Virgin Mobile business model, with exceltent financiai
management allowing us to maintain a stable operational
cost base while delivering industry-leading revenue
growth. This leverage is forecast to continue, despite our
expansionand additional investmentinto the contract
market. We will continue to drive down the cost to serve
each customer, while remaining committed to best-in-class
customer service. And while we expect profit margins in
our core prepay business to remain very strong, acquisition
investment into the contract market is expected to dilute
EBITmargins, by between zero and one percentage points
in the first year, with returns on that investment expected
to reap benefits in the financial year 2006/07 and beyond.

Shareholder returns

Owing to the high cash conversion of our business model,
we forecast a continuingreduction of the current net debt
position. While this will bring our debt ratios down closer
to those of our peers, we expect that we candeliver
growingreturns to shareholders through dividend
payments. For the year ended 31 March 2005, we have
proposed a maiden dividendbased on40% of pre-
exceptional net incorme. Upon approval, this will be paid
as afinal dividend, at two thirds of the payout ratio, or
4.88p per share. We target a 50% payout ratio for the
2005/06 financial year.




w w

DURINGFY05/06, WEWILL
INCREASINGLY ROLL 3G PHONES
INTO OUR RANGE ONMERIT, AND
WEWILLEVOLVE QURSERVICESET
AS THE MARKET ITSELF DEVELOPS.
WE HAVE THE FLEXIBILITYTO
MONITORMARKETDEVELOPMENTS,
AND TO EXPAND WHENWE BELIEVE
CONSUMERS ARE READY.
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3G Strategy

The initial rollout of 3G services in the UK market is
underway. We're encouraged to see the emergence
of these new services, however the consumer
appetite for 3Gis still developing gradually.

We believe there are several reasons for this gradual
development, all of themrelated. True mass-market
adoption starts when benefits are understood and
compelling, and the product works wellandis priced
appropriately. 3G services and devices have not hit this
pointyet. Consumers are being asked to take abackward
stepin product size, weight, and battery life. Services
are not generally compelling and are highly priced.

We expect the 3G product attributes to improve through
2005 and 2006. During FY 2005/06, we will increasingly
roll 3G phones into our range on merit, and we'll evolve our
service set as the market itself develops. We have the
flexibility to monitor market developments, and to
expand when we believe consumers are ready.

We also have the same freedom with other wireless
technologies, for example, we aim to try mobile television
within the next twelve months. We are continually
investigating a variety of technological alternatives,

as we strive to provide our customers with the most
compelling, user-friendly products on the market.

There are agreat many opportunities for growthinthe UK
market, particularly for Virgin Mabile, as we expand our
product and service set and enter new market segments.
We think this is an exciting time for the business, as
opportunities and technologies develop inour core market.




FINANCIAL REVIEW

We have prepared our statutory accounts for the twelve

months ended 3t March 2005.0n 14 May 2004, we changed
ouryear-end from 31 December to bringit in line with other

UK listed mobile operators. As aresult, our comparative
statutory periodis for the three months ended 31 March
2004. Operating profit for the twelve months ended
31March 2005 was £67.7 million* (including £15.2 million
of exceptional operating costs)and for the three months
ended 31 March 2004 was £22.7 million {including

£1.0 million exceptional turnover). Profit after tax for the
twelve months ended 31 March 2005 was £34.7 million
and for the three months ended 31March 2004 was
£14.8 million.

On 29 January 2004, we entered into the TSAwith our
network provider, T-Mobile. Until 29 January 2004, under
our previous telecommunications supply agreement,
T-Mobile paid MSC, being a manthly amount based on the
number of customers in that month, which we recognised
as turnover. From that date, instead of paying MSC,
T-Mobile now passes through the inbound revenue they
receive fromthird partiesinrespect of inbound calls,

or messages sent, to our customers, which we recognise
as turnover. Aiso, under the new TSA, the charges we pay
toT-Mabile for use of their network are different to the
charges under the previous telecommunications

supply agreement.
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The following results and financial review are based
onthe statutory results for the twelve months ended
31March 2005 (a period for which the new TSAwas fully

operational) compared to the results for the twelve manths

ended 31March 2004, adjusted for the impact of the new
TSAasifit had been operational from 1 April 2003 and
adjusted so as toreflect anormalised effective taxrate
{areconciliation between audited results for the twelve
months ended 31March 2004 to the pro formaresults for

the twelve months ended 31 March 2004 is shown onpages

34 and 35). Each period excludes exceptional items so as
to show the underlying performance of the business,
unless otherwise stated.

Proforma
12months 12 months
ended ended Changeover
31March 31March  proforma
2005 2004 prior
£ million £ million pertod
Turnover
Service revenue 4576 3940 16.2%
Equipment revenue 637 593 7.4%
Total turnover 5213 4533 15.0%
Gross profit
Service margin 2807 246.7 13.8%
Equipmentmargin {61.0) (5.0} 19.6%
Total gross profit 219.7 1957 12.3%
Administrative expenses
before depreciation (119.4) (117.0) 21%
EBITDA 1003 787 27.4%
Depreciation 17.4) (155) 123%
Operatingprofit 829 632 31.2%




Revenue growth

Tatal revenue increasedby 15.0%"to £521.3 million
(FYD4: £453.3 million), primarity due to the continuad
growth in our customer base.

Service revenue
Proforma
12months  T2Zmonths Change over
ended ended  proforma
31March 31March prior
2005 2004 period
Service revenue (£ million) £4576m £394.0m 16.2%
Total connected sims (000s) 53599 39615 35.3%
Net connected sims additions
(000s) 13984 13244 56%
Churn rate {%) 175%  140% 3.5pp
Total active customers (000s}) 40319 32415 24.4%
Net active customer additions
(000s) 7904 1,0531  (24.9%)
Annual ARPU{£E) £127 £147  (12.6%)
Annual MOU {minutes) 775 884  (12.3%)
Annual average SMS [SMS) 614 686  (10.5%)

Servicerevenue increased by 16.2% to £457.6 million
(FY04: £394.0 million ) primarily due to our strong customer
growth. Rolling twelve month ARPU (average revenue per
user)was £127 compared to £147 at 31 March 2004,
remaining above average inthe prepay market. Of the £20
decrease, £7 was due to areductionininboundrevenue
following the Ofcominterconnectrate ruting in September
2004. The balance of the reduction arises from Virgin
Mobile’s very high customer base growth during the past
twelve months which has had the effect of diluting ARPU.
This dilution of ARPU has slowed over the year withonly
£4 of the £13 dilution occurring in the second half. Very low
incremental operating costs and low acquisition costs
continue to ensure that we enjoy attractive profitability
fromincremental customers.
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Equipment revenue :

Equipment revenue increased by 7.4% to £63.7 million
(FY04:£59.3 million) driven by the increase in our customer
additions. We have continued our successful strategy where
certain channel partners are incentivised to combine Virgin
Maobile service packs with handsets (sourced by the channel,
but approved by us), and sell the bundled package to end
consumers. Service pack only dispatches to such channels
for the year ended 31 March 2005 were 57% of total
dispatches (FY04:58%).

Gross profit
Proforma
t2months 12 months
ended ended Changeover
31March 3tMarch  proforma
2005 2004 prior
E millien £ miltion period
Service gross profit 280.7 2467 13.8%
Equipment gross loss (61.0) {51.0) 196%
Total gross profit 2197 1957  123%
Service gross maigin 013%  626% {1.3pp)
Gross margin 42.1%  43.2% (11pp}

Total gross profitincreased by 12.3% to £219.7 million
(FY04:£195.7 million), primarily due to the growth in our
customer base.

Service gross profit

Service gross profitincreased by 13.8% to £280.7 million
(FY04:£246.7 million). Service gross margin declined to
61.3% (FY04:62.6%). This dectine was primarily the result
of the Ofcomimposed termination rate cuts. Core service
pricing remained unchanged during the year, and our
‘Bundles’ option was introduced at the half way stage. In
terms of product mix, the revenue contribution of roaming
and other value-added services rose by over 80%. While the
margin gained on these products is lower, their contribution
isregarded as incremental and not substitutional.

Equipment gross margin

Equipment gross loss increased by 19.6% to £61.0 million
(FY04:£51.0 million) due to the increasein gross
connections. The cost per connectionas measuredby
subscriber acquisition costs (*SACT) was relatively stable
increasing by only £1to £26 per connection (FY04: £25).




Continued cost control

During the year, we remained focused on cost control
while implementing initiatives for the on-going growth
of the business.

Acquisition costs

Despite anincrease in the level of competitioninthe
marketplace, our highly effective distribution approach, cur
strongbrand, and the continued optimisation of our channel
marketing activity has enabled us to contain growthin our
SACwhichwere £26 per connection(FY04: £25).

Administrative expenses

12months  12months

ended ended Changeover

31March 31March  proforma

2005 2004 prior

£ million £million period

Total employee costs® 521 454 55%
Channeland retention costs™ 205 210 {2.4%])
Advertising and marketing 230 231 (0.4%)
Depreciation 17.4 155 12.3%
Others 238 235 1.3%
Total 136.8 1325 3.2%

¥ Excludes staff costs in respect of Yirgin Mobile Stores. Includes costs of
permanent employees, costs of contractors and temporary employees and costs
assaciated with our outsourced call centre, as well as other related employee
costs (including training and share option costs).

** Channel and retention costs include staff costs in respect of Virgin Mabile Stores.

Over the year to 31 March 2005, our active customer

base has grown by 24%, while operating costs before

depreciation have risen by just 2.1%in the same period.

This represents a 23.1% reductionin operating costs

per customer',

The mainincreasesin operating costs wererelated tonew
costs associated with being a publicly listed company,
including the cost of introducing share incentive schemes.

Excluding ptc-related costs, the like for like operating costs
before depreciationincreased only 0.5% to £118.5 millicn.
Other costs like further expansion of the Virgin Mobile Store
concept (there were 104 total stores at 31 March 2005,
compared to tenstores at 31 March 2004) were absorbed
within the operating cost base.

1 Average operating costs before depreciation, per customer per month
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Total employee costsincreased by 5.5% to £52. 1 million
{(FY04: £49.4 million ) the majority of which related to new
plc costs, including a£1.0 million non-cash charge inrespect
of employee share options issued during the year.

Due to the continued optimisation of our channel marketing
activity, channel and retention costs decreased by 2.4%.
Thiswas despite anincrease inthe staffing costs for our
VirginMobile Store expansion.

Advertising and marketingremained stable year onyear.
The depreciation charge increased by 12.3% including a full
year's depreciation of our new billing system that provides
us with flexible capability to rate and bill customers for new

services and products as they become available.

Increased profitability

Proforma

12months  12months
ended ended Changeover
31March 3{March  proforma
2005 2004 prior
£million Emillion period
EBITDA 100.3 787 27.4%
EBITDAmargin 19.2% 174% L8pp
Operating profit 829 63.2 31.2%
Operating profit margin 15.9% 13.8% 2.0pp

Inline with our strategy, we continue to grow profitability
through strong revenue growth and operating leverage
of the cost base, evidenced by expanding EBITDA margin
t019.2% (FY04:17.4%) and expanding operating profit
margin to15.9% (FY04:13.9%). Profit margins were
impacted by the Ofcom terminationrate cuts occuring

in September 2004. Excluding the impact of these cuts,
undertying EBITDA and operating profit margins
expanded by more than 5pp.

- .
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Exceptional items

Weincurred £15.2 million of operating exceptionalitems
during the year ended 31 March 2005:£6.3 million relates
to expenditure inrespect of our group reorganisation
and our PO inthe year and £8.9 millionrelates to the
implementation of the pre-IPO share optionscheme
under which share options were granted to employees

as areward for growing the business in the period from
launchuntilIPO.

Operatingprofit after exceptional items rose by 39.3%
to £67.7million (FY04: £48.6 million).

Finance charges

Finance charges were £14.5million. This expense reflects
the interest expense (E1.6 million) on the shareholder
and previous shareholder loans from 1 April 2004 to

5 July 2004, onwhich date theloans were repaid, and the
interest charge (£14.4 million) on the new credit facility
from July 2004. Interest received was £1.5 miltion.

Taxation

Taxis charged at our effective taxrate of 30%. We have
continued to utilise our brought forward losses and
unclaimed capital allowances and consequently haveno
tax liability at 31 March 2005. The deferred tax asset at
31March 2005 is £17.8 million.

Dividend

In light of our continued strong cashflow generation, the
Board proposes afinal dividend of 4.88 pence pershare,
payable on 25 July 2005 to shareholders on theregister
on10 June 2005, subject to approval of shareholders at
the Annual General Meeting on 20 July 2005. The dividend
is based on40% of pre-exceptional netincome andis paid
as afinal dividend at two thirds of the payout ratio for

the year.
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Capital expenditure

Capital expenditure remained low at £10.8 million within a
period of significant development, in which we have added
platform capability and launched anumber of new products,
including GPRS, MMS, Virgin Mobile BITES and Bundies.

We have received excellent development support fromour
network partner, T-Mobile, under the terms of our new
supply contract. A significant part of our capital expenditure
has been deployed to service continued customer growth
andimprovedresilience of core IT systems.

Cash generation
Proforma
12Zmonths  12months
ended ended Changeover
31March 3March  proforma
2005 2004 prior
Emillion Emillion period
EBITDA 100.3 78.7 274%
Change inworking capital (4.3) 184 (123.4%)
Purchase of fixed assets {11.5) (147) (21.8%)
Operating free cashflow 84.5 824 25%
Operatingfree cashflowmargin ~ 16.2%  182%  {2.0pp)

The working capital movement of {(£4.3 million) arose from
the one-off effect of the long-term bonus of £23.5 million,
incurredin the results for the year ended 31 December 2003,
but paid from cash flow during the year to 31March 2005.
Excluding this payment, working capital has improved by
£19.2 miltion demonstrating the underlying efficiency of

our working capital cycle.

Due to the payment of the long-term bonus, the operating
free cashflow marginhas reduced to 16.2%. Excluding this
payment, the like-for-like free cashflow margin is 20.7%.




Financing
31March 31 March
2005 2004 Change
£ million Emillion  Emillion
Cashatbank andinhand 13.2 375 (243}
Sharehalder and previous
“ shareholder loans - {76.8) 76.8
Old syndicatedloan - {23.0) 230
Repayment of loan from original
Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited
shareholders - (241.0) 2410
New credit facility (250.00 - {2500
Unamortised arrangement fee 26 - 26
Totalnet debt (234.2) (3033) 69.1

As part of the group reorganisation undertaken during
the year, we entered into a new £350 million credit
facility under which we drew down £330 million (net of
af£3.3millionarrangement fee which we are recognising
in the profit andloss account over the term of the credit
facility at a constant rate on the carrying amount).

The highly cash generative nature of the business mode,
the strong revenue growth and low levels of operational
and capital expenditure has enabled us torapidly reduce
the debt levels. From an opening position of net debt of
£303.3 million at 31 March 2004, the Group has reduced
borrowing substantially to £264 miltion at 30 September
and to £234.2 million at 31 March 2004. This rapid debt
reduction and strong financial management has enabled
us to bring our gearing down to just 2.3x EBITDA,
compared to 3.9x at 31 March 2004
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Treasury policy and risk management

The Group's treasury functionis responsible for raising
finance for the Group’s operations, together with
associated liquidity management, and the management
of foreign exchange, interest rate and counterparty risks.
Treasury operations are conducted within a framework of
policies and guidelines authorised and reviewed by both
the Audit Committee and the Board, who receiveregular
updates of treasury activity. Derivative instruments are
transacted for risk management purposes enly and no
speculative transactions are allowed.

Interestrate management

The Group has financial exposures to sterling interest
rates, arising on the £350 million facility enteredintoin
July 2005. At 31 March 2005, £250 million of the termioan
was outstanding while the E100 millionrevolver had been
fully repaid. These exposures are managed through
hedging at least 50% of the interest rate exposure on the
aggregate drawn down term loan. As at 31 March 2005,
Virgin Mobile had 60% of the interest rate exposure on
the term loan hedged with aninterest rate swap
agreement that aliows the interest rate to be fixed
onaquarterly basis atarate betweenanupperand
alower level.

Currency exchangerates

The Group's revenues and costs are substantially
denominated in sterling, although approximately one-
third of handset purchases are denominated in Euros. The
Group's policy is to eliminate currency exposure on these
purchases at the time of purchase through forward
currency contracts. Although these financial instruments
canmitigate the effect of short-term fluctuations in
exchangerates, there canbe no completely effective
hedge against long-term currency fluctuations.

Liquidity Management

The Group's policy is to ensure the Group has sufficient
funds to meet financialliabilities while using cash
efficiently to maximise returns. Working within the
policies agreed by the Board of Director’s, the treasury
function reviews liquidity demands on a daily basis and
surplus funds are collected and invested with approved
counter-parties.




accordancewith Financial Reporting Standard 6 “Aquisition
and Mergers”(“FRS 6")and has elected to adopt early
Financial Reporting Standard 20"Share based payments”
{“FRS 20").For further details of these two accounting
policies see pages 68 and 70. All other accounting policies
are consistent with those applied inprevious periods.

The Group will be required to adopt International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS)from 1 April 2005 and are
currently completing an assessment of the impact of IFRS
ontheresults for the year ended 31 March 2005.

Contracts with Controlling Shareholder

The Group has various contracts onan arm'’s length basis
and on normal commercial terms with various members
of the Virgin Group. The most important of these are:

Accounting policies
The accounting policies adopted are set out on pages 68
to 71 During the year, the Group has adopted two new
accounting standards. The Group has accounted for the
group reorganisationundertaken during the year in

B

- therelationship agreement between the Company,
R Bluebottle Investments {UK) Limited and others dated
i 20 July 2004 whichwas entered into to comply with the
Listing Rules and generally governs the relationship
B between the Virgin Group and VirginMobile;
- the Virgin Mobile trade mark license agreement between
B Virgin Enterprises Limited and Virgin Maobile Telecoms
Limited dated 2 July 2004 is an agreement that grants
| VirginMobile the rights to use certain Virgin related and
" certain Virgin Mobile marks inrelation to its business
activities; and
- theretail stores agreement between Virgin Retail
i Group Limited, Virgin Retail Limited and Virgin Mobile
i Telecoms Limited with effect from 1 April 2004 pursuant
towhichVirgin Mobile has the right to advertise,
1 promote and seliits products and services in specified
n
R
R
K
n
i
|
|
N

Virgin Megastores in the United Kingdom.

31Virgin Mobile Annual Report & Accounts 2005




Unaudited haif year comparatives?

Fuli year Firsthalf Second half
Proforma' Pro forma’ Prafarma'
To31Mar to31Mar To30Sept to30Sept To31Mar to31Mar
2005 2004 2004 2003 2005 2004
£ miltion Emillion  %change £ million Emillion  %change £ million Emillion % change
Financial operating data’
Service turnaver 4576 394.0 8% 2307 184.9 25% 226.9 2091 9%
Equipment turnover 63.7 593 7% 260 226 15% 377 367 3%
Total turnover 5213 4533 15% 2567 2075 24% 2646 2458 8%
Service gross profit 2807 2468.7 14% 1434 173 22% 1373 1294 6%
Equipment gross profit (61.0) (51.0}) 20% (27.5) {20.2) 36% (33.5) (308) 9%
Total gross profit 2197 1957 12% 159 97. 19% 103.8 986 5%
Service gross margin 613% 626% (13pp) 622% 634% (12pp) 605% 61.9% (1.4pp)
Gross margin 421%  43.2% (Llpp)  451%  468% (7pp) 32.2% 4019%  (0.9pp)
Administrative expanses
before depreciation {19.4) (7.0 2% {60.5) {57.5) 5% {58.9) (59.5) (19%)
EBITDA® 1003 787 27% 554 396 40% 449 391 15%
EBITDAmargin 19.2% 17.4% 18pp  216% 19.1% 2.5pp 17.0% 15.9% 1ipp
Change in working capital (4.3) 184  (123%) (38) (3.6) 6% (0.5) 220  (102%)
Purchase of tangible fixed assets {i1.5) (14.7) {22%) {5.7) (89 (36%) {5.8} {5.8) 0%
Qperating free cashflow* 845 824 3% - 459 271 £9% 38.6 553 (30%)

Operating free cashflowmargin -~ 16.2%  182%  (20pp) 17.9%  131% 48pp  146%  225%  {79pp)

EBITDA? 100.3 787 27% 55.4 396 40% 449 39. 15%
Depreciation (17.4) (15.5) 12% {8.1) {6.4) 27% {9.3) {e.) 2%
Operating profit 829 63.2 31% 473 332 42% 356 30.0 19%
Operating profitmargin 15.9% 13.8% 2.0pp 184%  16.0% 24pp 13.5% 12.2% 1.3pp
Underlying earnings per share® 184p 15.0p 23% nip 7.8p 50% 6.7p 7.2p {7%)
Netdebt 2342 3033 (23%) 264 3554 {26%) 2342 3033 {23%)

Notes for unaudited half year comparatives and unaudited quarterly non-financial operating data

1 0On28January 2004, we enteredinte the TSA with our network provider, T-Mabile. Until 26 January 2004, under our previous TSA, T-Mobile paid MSC, being 2 monthly
amount based on the number of customers in that month, which we recegnised as turnover. From that date, instead of paying MSC, T-Mobile now passes through the
inbound revenue they receive from third parties in respect of inbound calls, or messages sent, to our customers, which we recognise as turnover. Also, under the new T5A,
the charges we pay to T-Mobile for use of their network are different to the charges under the previous TSA. The above results, inciuding ARPU and non-voice service
turnover as a percentage of service turnover, have been prepared as if the new TSA had been operational fram 1 April 2003.

2 Al finsncial results are shown before exceptional items.

3 Duetoour low tevels of capitalinvestment, we believe that aperating profit is a useful measure of profitability we achieve with our asset base. Inaddition, we believe itis
ausefulmeasure for some investors ta determine our operating cash flow and historical ability to meet debt service and capital expenditure requirements. EBITDAIs
presented because itis astandard financial metric used in our industry. EBITDA consists of profit before finance charges {net), tax on profit on ordinary activities and
depreciation and amortisation. EBITDA s not ameasure of financial performance under UK GAAP, US GAAP or 1AS and should nat be considered as an alternative to cash
flow from operating activities, ameasure of liquidity or an alternative te net profit as indicators of our operating performance or any other measures of performance
derivedinaccordance with UK GAAP,US GAAP ar{AS.

4 Operating free cash flowis defined as EBITDA before exceptional items, adjusted for changes in working capital and less capital expenditure.

5 Underlying earnings per share s based on the results before exceptionat items and a normalised tax charge based on our effective tax rate of 30% of pre-tax profits.

& Totalconnected sims/customers are shown at the relevant dates. Churn rates, ARPU, nen-voice service turnover as a percentage of service turnover, annual MOU per
customer and annual SMS per custemer are based en information in the preceding tweleve months from the relevant dates. Net connected sims/customer additions,
SAC per gross addition and capital expenditure as a percentage of turnover are based on information during the relevant period.

7 ARPUandnon-voice service turnover as a percentage of service turnover are not shown for the periods ended 30 September 2003 and 31 December 2003 as results have
beenbased onproforma results assuming the new TSA had been operational from | April 2002 and therefore there is not a full twelve months of information based on the
new TSA prior tothese dates.
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Unaudited half year comparatives (continued)

Full year First half Second half
Proforma’ Proforma' Proforma’
To31Mar  Ta31Mar To30Sept  To30Sept To31Mar  To31Mar
2005 2004  %change 2004 2003  %%change 2005 2004  %change
Non-financial operating data*®
Totat connected sims (000s) 53599 39615 35% 46090 3,833 45% 53599 39615 35%
Net connected sims additions -
(000s) 13984 13244 6% 6475 5M.2 29% 750.9 823.2 (9%)
Churn rate (%) B 175% 140%  35pp  143%  160%  {(l7pp) 175%  140%  35pp
Total 90 day active customers
{000s) 40319 32415 24% 36037 25835 39% 40319 32415 24%
Net 90 day active customer )
additions (000s) 7904 10531 (25%) 3622 3951 (8%) 4282 658.0 (35%)
Averagerevenue
Per User ["ARPU"(E) £127 £147 (14%]) £137 N/A N/A E127 £147 {14%)
Non-voice service turnoverasa
percentageof serviceturnover (%) 312%  28.0% 3Z2pp  290% N/A7 N/A7 31.2%  28.0% 3.2pp
Annual Minutes of Use ("MOU")
per customer {minutes) E 884 {12%) 831 933 {n2%) 775 884 {12%)
Annual SMS per customer -
{5MS messages) 614 686 {10%) 667 675 {196) 614 686 {10%)
Subscriber Acquisition Costs
{(*SAC") per gross addition {£) £26 E25 4% £26. £26 0% £26 £24 8%
Capital expenditureas a
percentage of total turnover {%) 2.1% 32% (1Ipp) 2.2% 43%  (2pp) 1.9% 23%  (04pp)
Unaudited quarterly non-financial operating data®
To31Dec To31Mar To30Jun To30Sept To31Dec To31Mar
2063 2004 2004 2004 2004 2005
Total connected sims (000s) 36785 39615 42487 46090 50255 53599
Net connected sims additions {(000s) 540.2 2830 287.2 360.3 416.5 3344
Churnrate (%) 138% 14.0%  15.2% 14.3% 16.2% 17.5%
Total 90 day active customers (000s) 31012 32415 33918 36037 38795 40319
Net 90 day active customer additions {000s) 517.7 1403 150.3 219 2758 1524
Average Revenue Per User {"ARPU") (£) N/A £147 £142 £137 £132 £127
Non-voice service turnover
as apercentage of service turnover (36) N/A7 280% 287% 29.0%  297% 31.2%
Subscriber Acquisition Costs {"SAC") per gross addition (£) £24 £30 £28 £24 £28 £23
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Proforma results reconciliation

The following shows areconciliationbetween our non-statutory audited results, as presented in our listing particulars

for ourIPOin July 2004, and our unaudited pro forma results for the twelve months ended 31 March 2004:

Pro forma

To3iMar To3TMar

2004 Adjustments 2004

Emillion Emillion Notes £ millicn

Turnover before exceptional items 4704 (17.1 1 4533
Exceptional turnover 17.2 {8.3) 1 89
Turnover 4876 {25.4) 1 4622
Costof sales (255.8) {1.8) 2 (2976)
Gross Profit 2318 {27.2) 1.2 2046
[ Total administrative expenses before exceptional items {132.5) - (132.5)
Exceptional operating costs {23.5) - (23.5)
Administrative expenses {156.0) - {156.0)
Operating profit before exceptional items 821 (18.9) 63.2
Exceptionalitems (net) (6.3) (8.3) (14.6)
Operating profit 758 {27.2) 48,6
Finance charges (net) (9.6) - 3 (9.6)
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 66.2 (27.2) 39.0
Taxonprofitonordinary activities 271 (38.8) 4 (1.7)
Profit for the financial year 933 (66.0) 273
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The following shows areconciliation between our non-statutory audited earnings per share and our unaudited
pro forma earnings per share for the twetve months ended 31 March 2004:

Proforma

Ta31Mar To31Mar

2004 Adjustments 2004

Emillion E£million £ million

Profitfor the financial year 933 (66.0) 273
Earnings per ordinary share (pence ~ based on 250 million shares: see note 5) 37.3p (264p) 109
Profit for the financial year 933 (66.0) 273
Exceptional items 6.3 83 14.6
Tax effect of exceptionalitems {1.9) {2.5) (4.4)
Underlying profit for the financial year 97.7 (60.2) 375
Underlying earnings per ordinary share {pence —based on 250 million shares: see note 5) 3%.1p {24.1p)  150p

The foltowing shows a reconciliation between our non-statutory operating free cash flow derived from our auditedresults
and our operating free cash flow derived from our unaudited pro forma results for the twelve months ended 31 March 2004:

Proforma

Ta31Mar To 31Mar

2004 Adjustments 2004

£ mitlion Emiltion £million

Operating profit 758 (27.2) 48.6
Exceptionalitems 6.3 83 14.6
Operating profitbefore exceptionalitems 821 (18.9) 63.2
Depreciation 155 - 15.5
Change inworking capital 184 - 18.4
Capital expenditure {14.7) - (14.7)
Operating free cash flow 0.3 {18.9) 824

1 On29 lanuary 2004, we entered into the TSA with our network provider, T-Mobile. Until 29 January 2004, under the previous TSA, T-Mobile paid MSC, being a manthly

amount based on the number of customers in that month, which we recognised as turnover. From that date, instead of paying MSC. T-Mobile now passes through the

inbound revenue they receive from third parties inrespect of inbound calls, or messages sent, to our customers, which we recognise as turnover. The adjustmest to

turnover {which retates entirely to service turnover) comprises the fallowing:

-Adjustment to turnover reflecting TSA of £17.1million: this adjustment to turnaver reflects the reductionin turnover as if inbound revenue had beenreceived for the
entire year instead of the MSC that wasreceived;

-Reduced exceptional MSC payment of £8.3 million: this adjustment reduces the service turnover for certain previcusly disputed MSC that refate to that period. The total
exceptional turnover received has beenallocated to the relevant periods prorata to the actual amounts calculated to beinvoicedin those periods.

Under the new TSA, the charges we pay to T-Mobile for use of their network are different to the charges under our previous telecormmuications supply agreement,

The adjustment reflects the impact as if the revised charges had been used for the entire period.

Ng adjustments have beenmade to finance charges as it is assumed that any changes in operating profit would have been mirrored by changes inworking capital.

The adjustment to the tax chargereflects the change inprofit and narmalises that tax charge for the period at the effective tax rate of 30%.

Due to the group reorganisation as described on page 68, the number of ardinary shares used to calculate earnings per share for the twelve months ended 31 March 2004

is based on the 250,000,000 crdinary shares inissue following the group reorganisation.

[ e e N
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Highlights

=VirginMobile IPO July 2004 - all eligible employees
givenshares

- Added to FTSE4Good Index and SRl portfolios of several
investment funds

- Environmental management programmes significantly
reduce energy use despite staff increases

- Commitment to initiatives promoting safe and secure
mobile phone use

Our customers

At VirginMobile, the customer experience is integral to
everything we do. It's the cornerstone of our success. Virgin
Mobile - and the Virgin Group of companies - has builta
thriving enterprise based on being a Consumer Champion.

Inour minds, being a responsible company is just good
business sense. it leads to the growth and success of the
business inthe longer term. That's why our commitment to
customers goes beyond just fair treatment - you'd expect
that from any reputable organisation. We aim to give our
customers something special - to champion their needs.

Since entering the market in 1999, we've made it our

mission to challenge accepted market norms for the
benefit of consumers.
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We're constantly looking to improve our customer
relations. Our customer service team is available 24 hours
aday, 7 days a week and we commissionregular customer
satisfaction surveys. The April 2005 figures indicate that,
out of alt the UK mobile operators, Virgin Mobile has the
highest percentage of extremely satisfied customers.
These findings were supported by an independent survey
by ID Power & Associates, which found we had the most
satisfied customers in the UK for the second yearinarow.
We're committed to promoting the safe and responsible
use of mobiles. We have produced web-based guides on the
healthissues surrounding mobile phone use, and we
closely monitor the latest research on an ongoingbasis.

We want our customers to be able touse their mobile
phones free from worry about the kind of content that they
or their children may gain access to, and free from the fear
of crime. Last year, along with the five other UK mobile
network operators, Virgin Mobile established a voluntary
code of practice, the UK Code of practice for the self-
regulation of new forms of content onmobites, torestrict
the availability of unsuitable content to customers under
the age of 18. Our marketing campaigns are designed to
appeal to both young and young-at-heart customers,
however, we do not actively promote the use of mobile
phones by children.

We canblock lost or stolen Virgin Mobile phones,
preventing them beingused across all UK networks,

and therefore making themunsaleable by thieves. We're
also working closely with both the Home Office and the
Police through the recently created National Mobite
Phone Crime Unit.




We pride ourselves on accurate billing, and have complied
with Ofcom's metering and billing requirements, designed
to ensure customers are charged correctly.

Our people

Our people are the soul of our business. We encourage
them to get the most out of their careers, and to enjoy
being part of a successful team. We seek to employ
talented, motivated people, irrespective of their age, sex,
sexual orientation, physical abilities or religious beliefs.

Our policy is consistent in encouraging the disabled to
apply for any openvacancies at Virgin Mobile, and to
support successful applicants with all necessary training.
We believe that the training, career development and
promotion of disabled persons should, as far as possible,
be identical with that of other employees. In the event of
astaff member becomingdisabled, we make every effort
toensure that their employment continues and that any
trainingneeded is arranged.
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Webelieve inclear communication and consultationwith
employees onmatters that affect them - from the working
environment to the company’s performance. We have an
Employee Forum that consists of elected employees
thatrepresent the concerns and interests of staff to
management. We conduct employee satisfaction surveys
twice ayear, with over two-thirds of employees reqularly
reporting that they find the work atmosphere‘upbeat’'or
‘pretty good! In the last survey inNovember 2004, 87% of
employees gave a positive assessment of job satisfaction
atVirginMobile.

When we floated the businessin July 2004, we gave all
eligible Virgin Mobile employees shares inthe Company
as a‘thank you'for their hard work and commitment. We
runascheme that makes it easy for any new Virgin Mobile
employee to become a shareholder in the Company. Save
As You Earn enables employees to make regular savings
with an option to buy shares at the end of a three year ptan.




VirginMabileis also very active in keeping employees

up todate regarding our operational and financial
performance. Our Chief Executive writes a letter to
employees about the Company’s results when they are
reported. We also webcast our annual results presentation
- and encourage employees towatchit - as well as
distributing our interim and annual reports to employees.
Employees are encouraged to discuss company strategy,
resutts and goals at staff conferences and through

other communications.

As well as offering a competitive benefits package, we
provide our staff with a stimulating and supportive working
environment that reflects the value we place onthemas
tndividuals. Our commitment has regularly led us tobe
placed amang the top places to work in the UK, and in 2005
we were included in The Sunday Times Top 100 Best Places
to Work in Britain. We make every effort to keep our people
abreast of the progress of the business and their
contribution toit, including regular updates onnew
initiatives andbusiness performance.

Heaith and safety

We place greatimportance onhealthand safety

and conduct altof our operationsinsuchawayas to
safeguard the health and safety of employees, visitors
and the general public.

We've aimed at creating a working environment in which
there is anawareness of the vital importance of health

- and safety. We encourage all employees to participatein
developing and practising safe working methods and to
have aregard for the welfare of themselves and others.
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Our suppliers :

Wewaork closely with our suppliers fo ensure that they have
responsible attitudes towards the environment and their
communities. We have a clear pracurement policy and look
to suppliers that also have a comprehensive set of business
policies oncorporate responsibility issues. We expect
them to treat their employees withrespect and dignity
and to work towards improving their own social and
environmental management performance. The UN
Universal Declaration of Human Rights guides our

waorking practices.

One of our main concerns surrounds the manufacture

of mobile phones and accessories in cauntries with

less rigorous humanrights records. We have a strict
procurement policy and have developed a dialogue with
our suppliers toensure that they are clear as to our
policiesinthese areas. We have encouraged our suppliers
to work with manufacturers to improve conditions if they
believe that there are humanrights abuses taking place
in any of thetr facilities.

We intend to develop a supplier audit programme over
the coming year to ensure that our suppliers continue
to improve their practicesinthese areas.




The environment

Virgin Mobile aims to minimise waste, promote recycling
and source base materials fram renewable sources across
its operations. We're committed to the latestinitiatives to
minimise the impact of our business on the environment.
For example, we are currently working towards compliance
with the Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment (WEEE}
Directive inadvance of itsimplementationin the UK.

There are more than 50 million mobile phonesin
circulation in the UK and thousands of phones become
unwanted every year,

Virgin Mobile helps its customers to recycle unwanted
mobiles through the Fonebak scheme. Customers simply
send the mobile and any accessories to Fonebakina
Freepost envelope provided by Virgin Mobile. Used mobiles
areput backinto circulation wherever possible, oftenin
developing countries, while units that are beyondrepair
are disposed of inan environmentally responsible fashion.
We donate £5 to the British Red Cross for eachreusable
handset that we receive through the Fonebak scheme.
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We alsg strive to be environmentally responsible in our
day-to-day business. Recentinitiatives have cut our energy
consumption at our head office despite increases in
staffinglevels. For example, we use energy-efficient
fluorescent lighting, and a lighting control computer to
reduce light levels when buildings have low occupation.

Our literature is printed onpaper produced from
sustainable forests and the inks used are vegetable
pil-based and from renewable resources.

We are working in close partnership with Shields
Environmental, one of the UK's foremost specialist
consultancies inadopting good environmental practice
inthe telecommunications industry. Working with them,
we aimto set benchmarks and further internal verification
processes of our efforts in environmental responsibility.




The community

A lot of our work in the community concerns issues relating
to mobile phone crime and health. These are covered inthe
‘Our Customers’section above.

We slready engage in a number of charitable endeavours,
and in the 2005/06 financial year, we plan to expand our
charitable commitments.

We are active inour partnership with Virgin Unite, the
charitable foundation set up by Virgin Group tomake a
meaningful difference tointernational and local issues.
Individual Virgin companies nominate local charities to
support and all the Virgin companies concentrate their
effortbehindthe selected local charities. Internationally,
Virgin Unite supports the reduction of the Big 3 kilers
(AIDS, malaria and TB}in Africa. Virgin Unite is now
established in the USA and South Africa as well as the UK.

Virgin Mobile employees have worked in South Africa
andwiththe UK charities, as well as helping Virgin Unite
setupwith copywriting, designand web design skills.
Two members of the management team sit on the
Virgin Unite steering committee.

We also provide ongoing financial suppert to a number of
charities such as the Red Cross, and call centre assistance
tovarious mass appeals. In the last year we have supported
the Tsunami appeal and Comic Relief in this way. We are a
founding member of the Telephone Helpline Users
Association, which provides free numbers to arange of
charities. Over the medium-to long-term, Virgin Mobile
aims to contribute 1% of pre-tax profits to charity.

Charitable contributions

For our 2005 financial year, we have committed £200,000
tobe donated to charity, which has not yet been allocated.
Below are the charitable donations Virgin Mabile has
made thus far during the financial year.

Doration to Relate £6,450
Donationto Help the Aged £1,000
Donationto Great Ormond 5t £1.000
Adam Dealey Golf Day £960
George Frew Memorial 3 Peaks Challenge £400
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In addition to the charitable work as a company, four
charities are selected by our staff eachyear for other
fundraising efforts. They are currently the NSPCC,
Cancer Research UK, the Wiltshire Air Ambulance, and
Babe Charity (an appeal to fund a new children’s hospice
inthe South West}.

We also encourage staff to support individual charities

of their choice throughthe Inland Revenue-approved Give
As YouEarnscheme. The payroll-based scheme enables
employees to gain tax relief on their charitable donations.

Our links with the local community extend beyond donating
to charity, of course. We are inour second year of
sponsoring Creative Factory, a music-making project for
young people inthe South West that is part of the Bath
Festivals Trust. As aresult of our links with the project,
Virgin Mobile staff receive tickets to Creative Factory
events and benefit from staff music workshops.

FTSE4Good Index

During the past year, Virgin Mobile became a constituent
member of the FTSE4Good Index. The Index measures the
performance of companies that meet glohally recognised
corporate responsibility standards and facilitates
investment inthose stocks. The inclusion criteriaare
regularly revised to ensure that they reflect standards

of responsibie business practice.

ManagingCR

Virgin Mobile manages many aspects of its corporate
responsibility through its Risk Forum, reporting directly
to the Boardvia the Chief Financial Officer. Theirrole s to
ensure that all business risks are identified, reported and
addressed. This includes an assessment of relevant social,
ethical and environmental risks to the Company.

Aninitial assessment is made by the CFO, the Commercial
Director and the Head of Financial Control. This initial
assessment is reviewed by the Risk Forum which amends
and agrees the identified risks, measures their importance
and agrees a course of action to minimise them.

The Risk Forum met twice during the last financial year

(in September 2004 and February 2005). The reports from
the Risk Forum meetings cover all major social, ethical and
environmental risks and outline a suggested course of
action forimprovement. Each report is presented to and
reviewed by the Audit Committee.

me RRERRAPRPRARIARRARRRE RN B R

I e I i

s B B A B B B




Our future

We have spent the eight months since our IPO checking
that we have suitable internal controt and management
systems in place to manage corporate responsibility for

a public company of our size. We have identified several
areas that could be improved and will be implementing
these changes over the coming year. Chief among these
improvements will be the establishment of aCR committee
tomeet on a quarterly basis and provide reqular updates

to the Board.

We willalso be usingexternal consultants to help us
improve some of our internal audit and certification
processes during 2005/06 and to set more detailed
targets for our social and environmental management
performance. We also intend to more fully comply with
ABI guidelines as will be highlighted in future corporate
responsibility publications. The ultimate aimis to audit
allof our corporate responsibility activities.

As detailed in this summary, we have been building

Board involvement in the corporate responsibility area.
We will continue to improve Board level reporting and
responsibility over the coming year. The next annual report
wiltinclude anupdate on our progress in these fields.
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Thisis anoverview of some of our Corporate
Responsibility efforts. To view our full report, including
pastaccomplishments, detailed measurements and our
goals for the future, please download our full report at
http://about.virginmobile.com/about/csr/
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The directors present their report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 3t March 2005.

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Group comprise of the sale
of mobile phone handsets (direct to end customers,
distributors and to retaiters) and the provision of mobile
telecommunication services. Virgin Mobile launchedits
operations as amobile virtual network operator (MVNO)in
November1999. As anMVNO, the Group operates 3 virtual
network providinga broad range of mobile communications
services toits customers over T-Mobile’s network under
its minimum ten year term, telecommunications supply
agreement with T-Mobile signedinJanuary 2004. Amore
detailed overview of the business, including areview of
the development of the business of the Group, is set out on
pages 20 to 25 in this Annual Report.Details of the Group’'s
proposed expansion and development is described on
pages 24 to 25 of this Annual Report.

Results

The consolidated profit and loss account is set out onpage
64 of this Annual Report. The directors have proposed a
final dividend for the year of 4.88 pence per ordinary share,
which, subject to sharehalder approval, will be payable on
25 July 2005 to'shareholders on the register of members
at close of business on 10 June 2005. No interim dividend
was paid during the year ended 31March 2005.

Directors
The directors of the Company during the financial year
ended 31 March 2005 were:

Susannah Parden resigned 16/06/2004
Jane Bullock resigned 14/06/2004
Tom Alexander appointed 16/06/2004
AlanGow appointed 16/06/2004
JoeSteel appointed 16/06/2004
Gordon McCallum appointed 16/06/2004
Charles Gurassa appointed 28/06/2004
Caroline Marland appointed 28/06/2004
Rupert Gavin appointed 28/06/2004
David Maloney appointed 28/06/2004
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Further detdils of the current directors are provided on
pages 44 to45 of this Annual Report. All current directors
were appointed during the financial year ended 31 March
2005.Details of the directors’service contracts and letters
of appointment for non-executive directors, share interests
and emoluments as at the year-end can be found in the
RemunerationReportonpages 59to60. There were

no changes inthe director’s share interests from the
year-end until 26 May 2005.

Details of the long term incentive scheme known as
the Performance $hare Plan and other employee share
schemes are set out in the Remuneration Reporton
pages 56to57.

Corporate governance

The Board supports high standards of corporate
gavernance. The Corporate Governance Report is set out
on pages 48 to 53 of this Annual Report.

Share capital

A statement of changes inthe share capital of

the Company s set out inNote 18 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Substantial sharehotdings

At 24 May 2005, the following notifications had been
received by the Company inrespect of holdings of 3%
armore of the Company's issued share capital:

Entity Sharcholding  Percentage

Bluebottle Investments (UK)

Limited (and its parent campanies) 184,238328  72.8%
Avivaplconbehalf of
Morley Fund Management 15688337  62%

Fidelity International Limited
andits directand indirect subsidiaries
Deutsche Bank AG andits subsidiaries

14949375  59%
9,354,857 3.7%
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The directors have not beennotified, as at 24 May 2005,
of any other interest of 3% ormore inthe ordinary share
capital of the Company. The directors are notaware of any
arrangements that coutdresultinachange of control of
the Company.

Directors Interests

During the financial year ended 31March 2005, no contracts
of significance were entered into inwhich any of the
directors had a material interest.

Details of the directors’interests inshares of the
Company as of 31March 2005 are detailed in the
RerunerationReport.

Contracts with Controlling Shareholder

The Company has various contracts withmembers of the
Virgin Group including those set out on page 31 of this
Annual Report. During the year ended 31 March 2005,
none of the various contracts with members of the Virgin
Group constituted centracts of significance as defined by
the UK Listing Authority's Listing Rules.

Supplier payment policy

The Company's policy, whichis also applied by the Group,

is to settle terms of payment with suppligrs when agreeing
the terms of each transaction, ensure that suppliers are
made aware of the terms of payment and abide by the
terms of payment.

The Group had 28 days’ purchases outstanding at
31March 2005 based on the average daily amount
invoiced by suppliers.

Employees
Pleaserefer tothe Corporate ReSpDﬂSlbillty Report
onpages 39to40.

Corporateresponsibility

A detailed summary of the Group’s corporate responsibility
policy including the Group’s charitable donations and
community involvement is detailed at pagerd 2. The Group
made no political donations during the year ended
31March 2005.
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Auditors

Following arecommendation by the Audit Committeae,
aresolution proposing the appointment of Deloitte
and Touche LL.P as auditors to the Company for the next
financial year will be put to the Annual General Meeting
on 20 July 2005.

Inafurther measure to safeguard auditor objectivity

and independence, a policy on the non-audit work that can
be carried out by the auditors has been propased by the
Audit Committee and adopted by the Board.

Annual General Meeting

The notice of the Annuat General Meeting details the
resolutions to be proposed at the Annual General Meeting
tobe held onWednesday, 20 July 2005. The notice together
with explanatory notes, are provided to shareholders with
this Annual Report.

Going concern

The directors have reviewed the Group's liquidresources
and borrowing facilities, and the Group’s budget and cash
flow forecast for the year to 31March 2006. On the basis
of this review, the directors are satisfied that the Group

has adequateresources to continue inoperational

existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason,
the directors adopt the going-concernbasis in the
preparation of the financial statements.

W{J(C

By Order of the Board
Paul Cowlishaw, Legal Director & Company Secretary
26 May 2005
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The Board supports high standards of corporate governance.

The Company's ordinary shares are listed inthe United
Kingdom on the London Stock Exchange. As such, the
Company is required to make a disclosure statement
concerning its applicationand compliance with the
Combined Code whilst listed.

For the period from the admission of the Company's shares
to the official list of the Londen Stock Exchange until
31March 2005, the directors confirm that the Company
has been in compliance with the provisions of the
Combined Code effective for that accounting period
except as set out below. Gordon McCallum’s service
contract does not permit the Company to terminate his
service contract within twelve months orless. This is due
to the fact that Gordon McCallum's appointment is to
represent the views of the majority shareholder, Bluebottle
Investments {(UK) Limited and is governed by anagreement
between the Company, Bluebottle Investments (UK)
Limited and others dated 20 July 2004 {the "Relationship
Agreement”). His appointment will terminate automatically
by removal by Bluebottle Investments (UK) Limited or
retirement or removal pursuant to the Company’s articles
of association and the Relationship Agreement.

The Company is also temporarily non-compliant with the
provision of the Combined Code concerning the number

of independent non-executive directors on the Board.
Atpresent the Board consists of eight directors, three

of which, excluding the Chairman, are independent non-
executive directors and the Company is actively looking
forafourth independent non-executive director and an
appointment will be made as soon as a suitable candidate
is found. Inaddition, the Board has notreviewed the
performance of the Nomination Committee, as the
committee only had two brief meetings during the year
ended 31 March 2005.
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The Board of Directors .
The Boardis responsible for organisingand directing the
affairs of the Company and the Group inamanner that s
inthe best interests of the shareholders, meets legal and
regulatory requirements and is consistent withgood
corporate governance practices. In particular, the Board
isresponsible for:
- providing entrepreneurial feadership of the Company
within a framework of prudent and effective controls

. which enable risk to be assessed and managed;

+setting the strategic aims of the Company, ensuring that
the necessary fhancial and humanresources areinplace

- for the Company to meet its objectives, and reviewing
management performance;

-settingthe Company’s values and standards and
ensuring that its obligations to its shareholders and
others are understood and met.

The Board has specifiedmatters reserved to it including
the approval of the annuat operating plan, significant
expenditure or disposals, contracts of an onerous or
unusual nature and specified proposals that are required
tobe considered by the shareholders of any of the
Companies in the Group.

The Board comprises the Chairman (who is non-executive},

three executive directors (including Tom Alexander, the
Chief Executive Officer) and currently four non-executive
directors. It is the Company’s intention to appoint a fifth
non-executive director as soon asit is practicable. The
divisionof responsibilities between the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer has been set out inwriting
and agreed by the Board.

Charles Gurassa's role as Chairman, amang other things, is
toensure good corporate governance. His responsibilities
include leading the Board, ensuring the effectiveness of
the Boardinall aspects of the Board's role, the Board's
agenda, ensuring effective communication with
shareholders, ensuring new directors will receive a full,
formal and tailored induction onjoining the Board and
ensuring that al directors are encouraged and are enabled
to contribute fully to the activities and decisions of the

N - : 2
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Board. Charles Gurassa is also anon-executive chairman
of 70ays Limited and Worldwide Excellerated Leasing
Limited, and a non-executive director of Whitbread plc
and Whizz-Kidz Limited.

The Company regards Caroline Martand, Rupert Gavinand
David Maloney as independent non-executive directors,
within the meaning of “independent”as defined in the
Combined Code. The Company anticipates that the fifth
non-executive director will also be independent. The
Company also regarded the Chairman as independent

as at the date of his appointment.

Virgin Group Investments Limited (throughits subsidiary
Bluebottle Investments (UK) Limited) has the right to
nominate one non-executive director for appointment to
the Board. The first such director is Gordon McCallum.

The Combined Code also recommends that the Board
should appoint one of its independent non-executive
directors to be the senior independent director. The senior
independent directoris available to shareholders if they
have concerns that contact through the normai channels
of Chairman, Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial
Officer has failed to resolve or for which such contactis
inappropriate. The Company's seniar indgpendent director
is Caroline Marland. i

The current directors of the Company were'appointed
before the Company became a public limitéd company and
therefore did not require the approval of the shareholders.
Inaccordance with the Combined Code, allnew directors
will be subject to electionby shareholders, at the first
annual general meeting after their appointment. Alt
directors, including current directors, are subject to
re-election thereafter atintervals of no more than
threeyears.

The three executive directors are also members of the
management team of the main operating company in the
Group, Yirgin Mobile Telecoms Limited (VMTL), along with
eight other key senior managers, The management team
manages the day-to-day activities of Virgin Mobile
Telecoms Limited. The three executive directors have
sufficient capacity to fulfill their roles at the Company
andVirgin Mobile Telecoms Limited due to the overlap
between theseroles.

The Company maintains Directors'and Officers’ Liahility
Insurance inrespect of legal action against its directors.
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During the financial year ended 31 March 2005 and since the
Company's admission to the official list of theLondon Stock -
Exchange, the Boardhad six regular board meetings. Itis the
Company’sintention that in any full financial year the Board
will meet ten times. Eachregular board meeting includes a
Chief Executive’s overview, providing clear, accurate and
timely information onthe Group’s business and other
activities since the last meeting including forthcoming
initiatives within the Company, and a business performance
update, onindustry trends, sales performance and customer
activity. The respective chairpersons of the committees

of the Board also update the Board on the activities and
recommendations of the committees. Any directors whodo
not attend a board meeting still receive the documentation
for that meeting. The Board also appoints ad hoc
committees from time to time to deal with specific matters.

If necessary for the directors of the Board to discharge
their responsibilities as directors or in connection with the
affairs of the Company, they may, inaccordance with the
Company's articles of association, receive independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense.

Attendance

During the financial year to 31 March 2005 and since the
Company was admitted to the officialiist of the London
Stock Exchange there were sixregular meetings of the
Board, three meetings of the Audit Committee and three
meetings of the Remuneration Committee. There were also
two brief meetings of the Nomination Committee. Individual
directors' attendance at the Board meetings and Board
committee meetings was as follows:

Audit Remuneration MNomination
Board Committee Committee Committee

Director Meetings  Meetings  Meetings  Meetings
Charles Gurassa 6 Nfa  Nfa 2
Tom Alexander 6 N/a 3 T3
AlanGow R 6 L N/a
JoeSteet 6 Na  Na  Nfa
Caroline Marland 5 3 3 2
Rupert Gavin 6 3 3
DavidMaloney 6 3 3 2
Gordon McCatlum 6 3 Na = 2*

*Invited to sorme meetings, but not required toattend as not amember
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Mon-Executive Directors

In addition to the general duties and responsibilities of all

directors, the non-executive directors have the following

key duties, which the Company has documented:

-tochallenge constructively and help develop proposals
onstrategy;

—toscrutinise the performance of management in
meeting agreed goals and objectives and monitor the
reporting of performance; .

-to be satisfied on the integrity of financial information
and that financial controls and systems of risk

“management are robust and defensible; and

-toberesponsible for determining appropriate levels
of remuneration of executive directors and have a prime
role in appainting, and where necessary removing,
executive directors and in succession planning.

The Chairman and the non-executive directors met once
during the financial year ended 31March 2005 without the
executive directors or any management team members
being present. The non-executive directors, led by the senior
independent director, evaluated the performance of the
Chairman for the year ended 31 March 2005,

Allof the non-executive appointments will terminate
automatically onthe date of their ceasing to be adirector.
Charles Gurassa, Caroline Marland and Rupert Gavin

were appointed for aninitial termof three years.

David Maloney is appointed for an initial term of two years.
Charles Gurassa’s appointment is terminable by either
party on 12 months' writtennotice. Except for Gardon
McCallum's appaintrment, the non-executives’
appointments may be terminated atany time onone
month's notice.

Gordon McCallum was appointed as the director of the
Company for aninitial termof three years although he
canterminate the appointment at any time on one month's
written notice. His appointment will also terminate
automatically by removal by Bluebottle Investments

(UK} Limited or retirement or removal pursuant to the
Company’s articles of associationor the Relationship
Agreement.

Company Secretary

Alldirectors have access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary. The current Company Secretary,
Paul Cowlishaw, was appointed on1July 2004 when the
previous Company Secretary, Peter Gram, resigned.

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary
isamatter for the Board as awhole.
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The Company Secretary ensures good information flows
within the Board and its committees and between senior
management and non-executive directors and advises the
Board, through the Chairman, on atl governance matters
and ensures that the Board's procedures are complied with.

Effectiveness of the Board

The Chairman met with each of the directors of the Board to
discuss theirindividual performance and the performance
of the Board as awhole. As part of the evaluation, eachof
the directors were also asked to complete questionnaires
onthe performance of the Board. The chairpersons of the
Remuneration and Audit Committees also met with the
directors who were on those committees to discuss

the performance of those committees. As part of the
evaluation each of the members of the committees were
asked to complete questionnaires reviewing the performance
and composition of the committees of which they were
members. As the Nomination Committee only had two
brief meetings dufing the year ended 31March 2005

the performance of the Nomination Committee has not yet
beenreviewed. The non-executive directors, led by the
senior independent director, also carried out a performance
evaluation of the Chairman, taking into account the views
of the executive directors. The Company Secretary
reviewed the completed Board and committee
questionnaires and produced areport, which was
cansidered by the Board. As aresult, a series of
recommendations were proposed which have been, or will
be,implemented. The directors concluded that the Board
and its committees operated effectively and no significant
issues were identified. A performance evaluation of the
Board and the committees of the Board wilt continue to be
conducted annually.

Board Committees

The Board has established an Audit Committee, a
Remuneration Committee and a Nominations Committee.
The terms of reference of these committees are published
onthe Company's website at www.virginmobile.com/about.
TheLegalDirector and Company Secretaryis the
Secretary to these committees and he or Philip Auld,
Solicitor and Deputy Company Secretary, formally takes
theminutes of eachmeetingwhich are circulated to all
members and, once approved, are circulated to the Board.

v




Audit Commiiies
Chairman: David Maloney
Other members: Caroline Marland, Rupert Gavin

The Audit Committee was established by the Board at

the first board meeting following the admission of the
Company to the official list of the London Stock Exchange
and met three times since then during the year ended
31March 2005. The committee will normally meet at least
four times a year. David Maloney, as chairman of the Audit
Committee has recent andrelevant financial experience,
including acting as CFO of Le Meridien Hotels and Resorts
and of Thomson Travel Group and Preussag Airlines within
the past five years. He also has aBA {Hons) in Economics
andis a fellow of the Chartered Institute of Management

Accountants. Rupert Gavinwas CEQ of BBC Worldwide and

Caroline Marland acted as Managing Director of Guardian
Newspaper Group. Alan Gow, Chief Financial Officer,and
Jake Wright, Head of Financial Control, also attend the
meetings except when the committee wishes for
confidential feedback from the auditors.

The committee has responsibility for, among other things,
the planning and review of the Group’s Annual Report and
accounts and half-yearly reports and the involvement of
the Group's auditors in that process, focusjng particularly
on compliance withlegal requirements, adcounting
standards and the rules of the UK Listing Authority, and
ensuring that internal financial controtis reqularly
assessed. The ultimate responsibility for reviewing

and approving the annual report and accounts and the
half-yearly reports, remains with the Board.

Audit Committee Report
The main activities of the Audit Committee during
the year ended 31 March 2005 were as follows:

~Review of Financial Resuits and Statements
The Audit Committeereviewed and reported to the
Board on the interim results and the annual report and
accounts, taking into consideration the views of the
external auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP:

= Review of Effectiveness of Internal
Controls and Risk Management Process
The Audit Committee reviewed and approved the
Company's Annual Assessment of the Effectiveness
of Internal Controls and Risk Management Processes.
This was subsequently adopted by the Board.

51 Vicgin Mobile Annual Report & Accounts 2005

" =Review of Internal Audit

The Audit Committee reviewed and approved the
internal audit work programme and subsequent
internal audit reports.

-Review & Approval of Whistleblowing Policy
The Audit Committee reviewed and approved the
Company’s whistleblowing pelicy, which set out
a confidential process for staff and contractors
toreportanyillegal or improper canduct by the
employees of the Group.

-Conduct of External Auditors
The Audit Committee reviewed and approved the
engagement letter with Deloitte & Touche LLP and
the remuneration paid for the auditors’services. The
Audit Committee also reviewed and approved a policy
of non-audit work that could be carried out by the
Company's external auditors where there was no conflict
of interest. In order to safequard the external auditors’
objectivity andindependence the external auditors are
not instructed to carry out non-audit work onwhich they
might, in the future, be required to express an audit
opinion; canonly carry out non-audit work permitted
by the Company's palicy onnon-audit work; and they use
separate engagement letters for each piece of work they
carry out.

Deloitte & Touche LLP has carried out two key pieces

of non-audit work during the year ended 31 March 2005:
preparatory work for the admission of the Company

to the official list of the London Stock Exchange and
the independent review report for the Company's
interimresults.

The members of the Audit Committee held discussions
with Deloitte & Touche LLP to ensure that there were
no restrictions or the scope of their audit of the
Company and to discuss any items the auditors wished
toraise without the Company's financial staff or senior
executives being present.
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Remuneration Committee
Chair:Caroline Marland
Other members: Rupert Gavin, David Maloney

The Remuneration Committee was established by the
Board at the first board meeting following the Company’s
admission to the official list of the London Stock Exchange
and consists entirely of independent nen-executive
directors. The committee met three times during the year
ended 31 March2005. The committee hasrespensibility far,
among other things, the determination of remuneration
packages for each of the executive directors and the
Chairman, including pensionrights and any compensation
payments, recommending and monitoring the level and
structure of remuneration for senior management, and
reviewing the design of share incentive plans.

KarenThornber, the People Director is the internal adviser
to the Remuneration Committee who provides information
and advice to facilitate discussion and decision-making on
remunerationmatters. New Bridge Street Consultants LLP
have been used by the Remuneration Committee as external
advisers artd to provide information and data to the
Remuneration Committee to assist with the development
of executive remunerationand, inparticular, inrelation to
the development of share incentive schemes. They also
assist the Remuneration Committee with agreeing
appropriate packages reflecting the remuneration policy.

The Remuneration Report provides further information
on this committee.

Nomination Committee

Chairman: Charles Gurassa

Other members: David Maloney, Caroline Marland,
Rupert Gavin

The Nomination Committee was established by the Board
atthe first board meeting following the Company’s
admissiontothe officiallist of the London Stock Exchange
and met twice during the year ended 31 March 2005.
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This committee meets as and when necessary and has
responsibility for, among other things, leading the process
of Board appointments and making recommendations to
the Board, among other matters, on Board composition and
balance. The committee’s role also includes reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board, giving
consideration to succession planning, cansidering
potential Board candidates following recommendations
fromexternal advisers or applicants fromopen
advertising, feviewing the leadership needs of the
Company, reviewing the membership of the other Board
committees and assessing the re-appointment of any
non-executive director at the conclusion of their

specified term of office.

During the year ended 31 March 2005, the committee
had two brief meetings to discuss succession planningin
respect of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer and tomeet a prospective fourthindependent
non-executive dirgctor.

L
Relations with Shareholders
As well as ad hoc meetings between major shareholders
and members of the Board that occur throughout the year,
the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer met
withmajor shareholders after the announcement of the
interimresults and gn other occasions. These meetings
took place inthe United Kingdom, the United States as
wellas major European financial centres. Analysts of the
telecommunications sector are invited to either attend
presentations on the Company’s results or participate
inconference calls to discuss them where this is mare
appropriate.The whole Board alsoreceives briefings from
the corporate finance team, Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer and Chairman cn the views of major
shareholders about the Company and the senior
independentdirector is available to attend meetings
withmajor shareholders to listen to their views. The
Company also engages regularty with the mediatohelp
communicate with other stakeholders such as the public.

The Annual General Meetingwilt be heldinLondon on

20 July 2005. It is the Company's intention that the
chairpersons of the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration
Committees and the other directors will be available
toanswer questions from shareholders at the Annual
General Meeting.

—
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The Company's investor retations team, corporate finance
teamand company secretarial team deal with day ta day
enquiries of investors and the investor relations sections
of the Virgin Mobile website contain the Company's listing
particulars and details of all previous results announcements
aswellas otherinformation that may be of interest
toinvestors.

Internal Controt and Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Board has overall responsibility for systems of internal
control throughout the Group and for reviewing at least
annually their effectiveness. The Board monitors all
controls, including financial, operating and compliance
controls and risk management. The control systems in
place are designed to provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against loss or damage and are designed to
manage rather than eliminate therisk of failure to achieve
business objectives.

Thekey procedures operating within the Group are

as follows:

Budgetary control

Adetailed annual planning processis undertaken to produce
aplanand abudget for the forthcoming financial year.
Managers of individual areas of VMTL prepare plans and
budgets for that financial year, within financial parameters
set by the management of VMTL, which §re challenged by
the executive directors. Anoverall plan andbudget is
approved by the Board prior to the commencement of

the financial year. Monthly management information is
prepared and reviewed by the Board, including financial
and non-financial performance showing variances

against budget.

Control environment and control activities

The Board has aformal schedule of mattersreservedto

it for decision. The Group has established policies and
procedures to ensure that expenditure, cash management,
treasury management and other operations considered
significant by their value or importance to the business

are subject to the disciplines of appraisal and approval

by appropriate levels of management. , °
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Risk management

Thereis an on-goingrisk management process for

identifying, evaluating and managing the significantrisks

faced by the Group. This process also deals with heatth and

safety and environmental risks and hazards as described

inmore detail on page 42 of this Annual Report.

The process includes the following:

- Risk Forum {comprising the executive directors,
the other members of the management team and the
Head of Financial Control) carry outrisk assessments
onaquarterly basis, to determine the nature and extent
of risks facing the Group;

—The profile of the significant risks is summarised and
tracked usinga consolidatedrisk map;

-Therelevantmembers of the management team are
responsible for managing the risks identified by the
Risk Farum,

—Therisk map is reviewed by the Audit Committee on
aquarterly basis.

Reporting

The Audit Committee meets quarterly and, among other

agenda items, will:

- Review the external andinternal audit work plans;

- Consider reports frommanagement and internal audit
onthe systems of internal control;

- Discuss withmanagement the actions taken onareas
identified either by the Board or by internal or external
audits or by the Risk Forum.

The Chairman of the Audit Committee reports the

significantissues to the Board.

Monitoring

The Group's internal audit function manage internal audit
work, although significant internal audits are outsourced.
The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the
adequacy and effectiveness of the systems of internal
control throughoyt the Group andhas been assistedby the
Chief Financial Officer, the Head of Financial Control and
external consultants in this review.
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This is the first Remuneration Report published by the
Remuneration Committee, whichwas established shortly
after the Company's admission to the official list of the
London Stock Exchange in July 2004, The Company's
Remuneration Policy has been devised by the Remuneration
Committee, approved by the Board and is set out below.
The Company's shareholders wilt be invited to consider

and vote on this report at the Annual General Meeting on
20 July 2005.

The Remuneration Committee

Chair: Caroline Marland

(Qther members: Rupert Gavin, David Maloney

The Remuneration Committee has responsibility for,

amongst other things:

- the determination of specificremuneration packages
for each of the executive directors and the Chairman,
including pension rights, any compensation payments;

-recommending and monitoring the level and structure
of remuneration for senior management; and

~reviewing the design of share incentive plans.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
are available on request from the Company Secretary
and are published onthe Company’s website at
www.virginmabile.com/about.

The Remuneration Committee met three times during the
year ended 31 March 2005. Details of attendance at
eachmeeting are contained in the Corporate Governance
Reportonpage49.

The People Director is the internal adviser to the
Remuneration Committee who provides information and
advice to facilitate discussion and decision-making on
remuneration matters. Where appropriate, the Chief
Executive Officer has beeninvited to attend the meetings
to express his views on the implementation of remuneration
policy onhis directreports, but has not participatedinany
discussion on his own remuneration.
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New Bridge Street Consultants LLP have beenused by -
the Remuneration Committee as external independent
advisers and provided information and data to the
Remuneration Committee to assist with the development
of executive remuneration and, in particular, inrelation to
the development of share incentive schemes. They also
assisted the Remuneration Committee with agreeing
appropriate packages toreflect the remuneration policy.
They provide no other services to the Company.
Their terms of reference are also published onthe
Company's websita,

L ]

Remuneration Policy

The principle objectives of the Company's remuneration
policy are tolink pay and performance, align the executive
directors’interests with those of shareholders and ensure
that remuneration is competitive and sufficient to attract,
retainand motivate high calibre directors to tun the
Company successfully. This isimplemented by controlling
the fixed elements of remuneration and providing the
executive directors with the opportunity toearn
significantly more through performance related

variable pay.

Inorder to achieve these objectives, itis the policy of the
Company te remunerate executive directors inaccordance
with the following principles:

Base Salary

The Remuneration Committee aims to set base salaries
that are sufficient to attract, retain and motivate directors
of the quality required to run the Company successfully
whilst having regard to their contribution, responsibilities
and function. When considering any increase to the
directors’base salaries, the Remuneration Committeeis
also mindful of the salary increases awarded to other
Company employees. Base salary awards are reviewed
against those paid at other telecommunication companies
and against those paid to directors of other quoted
companies with a similar market capitalisation. The
Remuneration Committee’s policy is to pay around the
median salary of directors based on these comparators.
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Pension

The Company has decidednot to operate afinalsalary
pension scheme. Instead, amoney purchase pension
scheme is available and contributions are based only on
base salary. The Remuneration Committee’s policy is to pay
pension contributions that are infine with the market rate
that are paid by similar companies that only have amoney
purchase pension scheme.

Annual Bonus

The Remuneration Committee recognises the importance
of cash bonuses that have annual targets linked to the
success of the Company’s business. The Remuneration
Committee’s policy is that directors at the Company
should have an annual bonus potential in the upper
quartile compared to other quoted companies with
asimilar market capitalisation.

Long Term Incentives

A significant proportion of the total remuneration package
of executive directors is designed to align a director’s
interests withthe interests of its shareholders using
long-termincentives. This enables executives to achieve
significant rewards if the Company achieves significant
growthinits earnings pershare.

L ]
Levels of fees for non-executive directors reflect the time
commitment and responsibilities of the role. Mon-executive
directors do not participate in the Company’s annual bonus
plan, the pension scheme or its employee share plans.

The Remuneration Committee reviews external market
data supplied by external advisers as well as pay and
employment conditions across the Group when
determining the remuneration of directors.

The Remuneration Committee believes thatthe
Remuneration Policy needs toremain flexible, and therefore,
will be kept under continual review. The Remuneration
Committee welcomes dialogue from the Company’s
shareholders and will keep shareholders fully informed of
any future changes to this Remuneration Policy in future
annualreports.
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Components of Remuneration

Exacutive Directors’ Remuneration

Executive directorsreceive base salary, pension and other
benefits, annual banus and long-term incentives. Details of
the executive directors'remuneration package payablein
the year ended 31March 2005 are included onpage 59 to
60.1tis currently envisaged that, infine with the
RemunerationPolicy, in subsequent financial years the
directors’remuneration will have the same structure that
was in place during the year ended 31 March 2005.

- Base Salary
The executive directors'base salaryisinclusive of any
fees payable to them as directors of the Company or
any associated company. The service agreements
provide that salary is reviewed annually taking effect
on1Q0ctober eachyear andthat any increaseinsalary
shall be at the absolute discretion of the Company.
The Remuneration Committee review salaries each
year following review of market data supplied by
external advisers.

-Pension and Other Benefits
Under their service agreements the executive directors
are also entitled to the following: ‘

{i) acontributionequalto15% of base salaryto the
Company's pension scheme (this was increased from
10% in the year ended 31 March 2005 following a
review by the Remuneration Committee which showed
such anincrease was in line with the benchmarking
for money purchase schemes in the relevant
benchmarking grouping and reflected median
contribution rates);

(i) medicalinsurance (subject to the rules of the scheme);

(iii) deathinserviceinsurance providing cover of 4 times
the lower of salary and the statutory or ather
regulatory limitimposed from time to time;

{iv) continued disahility insurance providing cover not
exceeding 67% of salary until retirement;

(v} carallowances which arereviewed by the Board
annually; and

(vi) 30working days'holiday ineach calendar year
(excluding bank and other public holidays).
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- Annual Bonuses The performance period comprises the financial year
Under the service agreements, the executive directors of the Company in which the grant date of the award falls
may be awarded anannuatbonus payment of up to and the following two financial years, with the aggregate
amaximum of 100% of thetr annual base salary.Ontarget ~ normalised EPS figures for these three years being
bonuses are 50% of base annual salary. The payment compared to the EPS for the financial year immediately
of these honuses may be suspended ar discontinued by preceding the performance period. For the first grant of
the Board at any time in the interests of the Company. awards on 27 July 2004 the base EPS was determined
For the year ended 31 March 2005 the bonuses were by the Remuneration Committee on an appropriate basis,
based on the following weighted perfermance criteria: taking into account the financial effect of the changesin
40% on the Company's profitability; 20% onthe the capital structure and the telecommunications supply
Company meeting its customer budgets; 20% on the agreement with T-Mobile and was based cnEPS before

. Company meeting its customer service budgets and exceptional items and normalised for tax. The
20% on the executive director’s personal performance Remuneration Committee believes that these
criteria. Future performance criteria and budgets will measures are the most appropriate means of aligning
be agreedby the Board. theinterests of executives with those of shareholders

because earnings are a key financial measure for the

-Long Term Incentives . Company, particularly as the Company’s shares were
The Remuneration Committee administers the only recently admitted to the officiallist of the London
Performance Share Plan (PSP). Awards made under Stock Exchange. A comparative performance condition,
the PSP are neither transferable nor pensionable. for example ong based on shareholder return, was
The Company’s current policy is that only a selected unworkable bectuse the Company is different from
group of the Company's most senior executives are any other listed telecommunications company in the

granted awards under the PSP.No awards will be granted United Kingdom.
to anindividual inany financial year over ordinary shares

of the Company whose value is greater than150% of If the perfarmance target is not met after three years,
thatindividual's annual rate of salary, other thanin awards will lapse immediately; there willbe no
exceptional circumstances determined by the opportunity tore-test the performance condition. The
Remuneration Committee, inwhich case the limit Remuneration Committee may amend the performance
is 200% of that individual's salary. Participants in the condition if an event occurs that causes it reasonably to
PSP have not and will not receive options under the cansider that the original performance conditionwill not,
Discretionary Share Option Plan. Allawards made under without alteration, achieve its original purpose, provided
the PSP are subject to aperformance condition set by that the Remuneration Committee acts fairly and

the Remuneration Committee at the time of grant of the reasonably, and that the amended condition would, in the
awards. The performance condition is based cnthe three opinion of the Remuneration Committee, be materially
year compounded annual growth inthe Company’s noless demanding to satisfy than the original condition
aggregate normalised basic earnings per share (EPS) as contemplated at the date of grant. Any amendment
compared to the retail prices index (RP[} over the will be disclosed in the Remuneration Report fallowing
three-year performance period, as follows: the amendment. No amendments were made in the

financiat year ended 31March 2005.

Normalised EPS per annum  Percentage of award that vests

LessthanRPI+6% (% e ~Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme {Pre-IPO Plan)
RP1+6% 25% of awards up to 100% Several senior managers, including the executive
of aparticipant's salary directors, were granted options to acquire a total of

3ot Q, Q,
BetweenRPI+6% Proratabetween 25% and 100% 11,936,100 ordinary shares in the Company under the

0, 0,
and RPI+12% Ofav.va.rds WP to100%of a Virgin Mobile Pre-IPO Plan as part of the reward for their
participant’s salary . . . . .
RE[+12% 1009% of awards up t0 100% “—  pastservice atanexercise price of 145.868p per ordinary
of aparticipant’s salary share. As the options granted under the Pre-IPC Plan are
BetweenRPI+12%  Proratabetween 0% and100% ~ toreward pastperformance, they are not subject to
and RPI+15% of that partof anaward in excess of 100% performance conditions. Half the options became
. ofaparticipant’s salary _ exercisable onadmission to the officiallist of the
RPI+15% 100% London Stock Exchange and the remainder of the

options became exercisable on 31 March 2005.
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The opticns lapse to the extent unexercised on the

tenth anniversary of their date of grant. The Remuneration
Committee will not operate the Pre-IPOPlanin

the future,

—Share Incentive Plan (SIP)
Every eligible employee of the Group, including the
executive directors, was granted free shares under the
SIP on admission of the Company’s shares to the official
list of the London Stock Exchange. The number of free
shares that were awarded was linked to past service so
that each eligible employee received approximately
£280worth of ordinary shares for eachyear of service
to the Group. The amount received was pro-rated for
part years of service.

The SIP operates through a trust, which acquires ordinary
shares by purchase or by subscriptionand holds themon
behalf of the emplayees. Free shares mustbe heldin
trust foraperiod of at least three years from the date on
whichthe shares are allocated to employees unless the
employee ceases employmentin certain circumstances.

- 5avings-Related Share Option Plan
The executive directors are alsg eligible to participate
inan Inland Revenue approved savingsgelated share
option plan, in which all UK employees within the Group
may participate. -

Under the Save As You Earn (SAYE) Plan, options are
granted at adiscount of 20% to the market value of
ordinary shares and are linked to either athree year
or five year savings contract. The maximum monthly
amount that may be saved is £250. The exercise of
options under the SAYE Planis not subject to the
satisfaction of performance conditions.

Non-Executive Directors’Remuneration

Details of the non-executive directors'remuneration
packages paid in the year ended 31 March 2005 are
included onpage 59. The Company does not contribute
to the pension of any non-executive director.

The executive directors of the Board will review the
remuneration of non-executive directors annually.

Except for Charles Gurassa, an annual fee of £5,000is
payable to anon-executive director for each committee
that they chair. Charles Gurassais provided with secretarial
and administrative services required for himto carry out
his duties. As part of his fee arrangement Charles Gurassa
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has acquired £500,000 worth of erdinary shares (Invested
Shares)in the Company at 200 pence a share. The Invested
Shares were purchased from Bluebottle Investments (UK}
Limited. Provided he continues to provide his services and
continues to hold the Invested Shares until the third
anniversary of admission of the Company to the official list
of the London Stock Exchange he will become entitled toa
fee{payablein ordinary shares butnet of all withhalding
taxes) equal to the market value of the Invested Shares at
that time. Charles Gurassa's right toreceive this fee willbe
acceleratedif his appointment is terminated due to death
or disability or there is a takeover of the Company hefore
such anniversary.If his appointmentis terminated for
cause he willlose hisright to the fee.If his appointment is
terminated inany other circumstance than those referred
toabove, the amount of the fee payable willbe proratato
the extent that the three year period has elapsed. The
number of ordinary shares by reference to which the feeis
calculated will be adjusted, as appropriate, if there is any
variationin the share capital of the Company {inctuding a
capitalisation or rights issue) or ademerger of the
Company.If there is acapitalisationissue, ordinary shares
receivedinrespect of his Invested Shares will form part

of his Invested Shares. if there is arights issue he must
acquire, as additional Invested Shares, that number of
ordinary shares that canbe acquired from selling sufficient
of hisrightsinrespect of the Invested Shares so that the
net proceeds of sale canbe used to subscribe for the balance.

Service Contracts

The executive directors’service contracts were alt entered
into on 28 June 2004, although the effective dates are

all 26 July 2004. Each of the executive directors’service
contracts have no fixed term and are terminable by either
party giving to the other no less than twelve months'notice
inwriting. No compensationis required to be paidon
termination of the service contracts.

All of the non-executive appointments will terminate
automatically on the date of their ceasing to be a director.
Charles Gurassawas appointed on 28 June 2004 for an
initial term of three years. His appointment is terminable
by either party on twelve months'written notice. Caroline
Marland and Rupert Gavin were appointed as non-executive
directors of the Company for aninitial term of three years
although either party may terminate their respective
appointments at any time onone month's notice. David
Maloney was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company for an initial term of two years although either
party may terminate the appointment at any time onone
month's notice, GordonMcCallumwas appointedas a
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director of the Company for aninitial termof three years
although he can terminate the appointment at any time
on one manth's written notice. His appointment will also
terminate automatically by removal by Bluebottle
Investments {UK) Limited or retirement or removal
pursuant to the Company’s articles of association or

the Relationship Agreement.

Share Ownership Guidelines .

Share ownership guidelines are in place for the
executive directors of the Company. These guidelines
encourage the Chief Executive Officer to acquire and
maintain a shareholding in the Company of a value
equivalent to two times base salary and other executive
directors to acquire and maintain a shareholding of
avalue equivalent to their base salary. To the extent that
shareholding targets inthe guidelines are not already
met, it is anticipated that the executive directors will
meet the targets within a period of five years. Once these
targets have been met, the executive directors should
maintain their shareholding at the specified level.

The Remuneration Committee will review the share
ownership guidelines periodically.

Other Matters

Thereis no arrangement under which a director of the
Company has waived or agreed to waive future emoluments
nor have there been any suchwaivers during the financial
year ended 31 March 2005. There are no outstanding loans
or guarantees granted or provided by any member

of the Group to, or for the benefit of, any of the directors

of the Company. ‘

The executive directors do not currently hold any non-
executive directorships at other companies. Thereis no
prohibition on taking non-executive positions, but the
Boardwould have to approve any such praposal. The
question of whether or not the executive director would
be entitled tokeep the fees from such position willbe
determined at that time and wouid be disclosed in future
remuneration reports.
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Total Shareholder Raturn

The performance graphbelow illustrates the Company's
total shareholder return from 20 July 2004 {when the
Company was first listed} to 31 March 2005, comparedto
the FTSEMid 250 Index. The FTSE Mid 250 Index has been
chosenbecause the Company became a constituent of
that index shortly after its flotation.

Total shareholderreturn
Evalue ’
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Source: Thomson Financial
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This graph shows the value, by 31March 2005, of £100
invested in VirginMobile Holdings (UK) plc on 20 Juty 2004
compared with the value of £100 investedinthe

FTSE Mid 250 index {excluding Investment Trusts).

It should be highlighted that whilst the investment in the
FTSEMid 250 index includes dividend returns, due to the
period covered, the investment in Virgin Mobile Holdings
(UK) plc does not inctude any dividend returns.
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Auditad Information

Emoluments and Compensation

Theremuneration of the directors payable for the year to 31March 2005 from the Company are set out below.
The remuneraticn of the current directors are for the period from their appointment to 31 March 2005,

Salary/Fees' Benefits* Annual Bonuses Contriz(:l:?t;:: Total
Name £000 £000 £000 £0C0 £000
Previous Directors
Susannah Parden - - - - -
Jane Bullock - - - - -
Chairman
Charles Gurassa’ - s - - - 14
Chief Executive ‘
Thomas Alexander” L 287 20 222 30 569
Executive Directors
Alan Gow 191 17 142 19 369
Jonathan Steel* 187 14 N2 9 332
Non-Executive Directors
Caroline Marland 34 - - - 34
David Maloney 34 - - - 34
Rupert Gavin® 30 - - - 30
GordonMcCatlum?® 30 - -~ - 30
Notes

]

2
3
4

5
6

Salary/fees comprise base salary and fees for being chairperson of a committee of the Board.

Benefits principally comprise car allowances, private health insurance and life assurance.

Charles Gurassa's service contractincludes provision for secretarial and administrative support.

As part of the Group reorganisation describedin note 1 to the accounts, Thomas Alexander and fonathan Steel received £1,961,561 and £49C,390 respectively for part
of their shareholdings in Virgin Mabile Telecoms Limited.

Rupert Gavin received £12,808 of his salary directly untit October 2004 and the remainder was paid to incndental Colman Limited for his services.

Gordon McCallum's salary is paid to Virgin Managemeqt Limited far his services.

Director’s Beneficial Interests
The directors'beneficialinterests in the ardinary shares of the Company, excludinginterests in the Pre-IPO Plan, PSP or
SIP are shown below:

Shareholding as at Shareholding as at
Director 31March 2004 31March 2005
Charles Gurassa' . - 250,000
Thomas Alexander’ - 1,270,971
Jonathan Steel' - 37743
GordonMcCallum' , - 770,971
Rupert Gavin ' . - 10,000
David Maloney " - 5,000

Alan Gow - -
Caroline Marland - -

8

Notes ‘

1

These shares were acquired before the admission of the Company to the official list of the London Stock Exchange.
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Long Term Incentive Scheme (PSP)

Awards over ordinary shares of the Company ("Awards”) were granted at the Company’s admission to the official list of
the LLondon Stock Exchange to the executive directors under the Virgin Mabile Performance Share Plan as described
above, such awards being exercisable, subject to the satisfaction of the performance conditions, for nil consideration.

Number of Number of Number of

Ordinary Shares  Ordinary Shares Ordinary Shares

under Awards under Awards underAwards

heldasat granted  Awardslapsed heldasat
Name 31March2004  duringtheyear  duringtheyear  31March2005 Exercise Price Vesting Date Expiry Date
Thomas Alexander - . 294,503 - 294503 Nil  27July 2007 27]an2008
Alan Gow - 157,068 - 157,068 Nil - 27)uly 2007 27Jan2008
Janathan Steel - 153796 - 153,796 NIl 27)uly 2007 27 Jan 2008

The closingmarket price of the ordinary shares on the date the awards were granted was 190.62p. The Awards are subject:
to the performance condition set out onpage 56 under Long Term Incentives.

Other Share Option Schemes
The following options over ordinary shares of the Company have been granted to the exacutive directors under the

Pre-tPO Plan as part of the reward for their past service.

Number of Number of Number of
Ordinary Ordinary Ordinary i

SharesUnder  SharesUnder Shares Under . Date

Optionasat Optiongranted Optionslapsed Optionasat exercisable
Diret.?tnr 31 March2004 duringtheyear duringtheyear 31March2005  DateofGrant ExercisePrice from Expiry Date
Thomas Alexander - 1585175 - 1585175 8luly2004  145.868p 21July2005 8iuly 2014
Alan Gow - 1,323,605 - 1323605 8luly2004 145888p Z1July2005 8July2014
Jonathan Steet - 397,570 ~ 397570 8huly2004  145.868p 21July2005 8 July 2014

The closing market price of the Company's ordinary shares at the end of the year was 220 pence. The highest and lowest
prices of the Company’s ordinary shares during the year since the Company’s admission to the official list of the London
Stock Exchange was 280.31 pence and 174.5 pence.

Under the free share award as part of the 5IP, the foltowing directors were awarded the following number of free shares,
whichareheldintrust:

Number of Number of

OrdinaryShares  OrdinaryShares

Held Under Held Under

the5IPasat the SIPas at
Director 31March 2004  31March 2005 Dateof Grant
Thomas Alexander - 734 26July 2004
AlanGow - 550 26 July 2004
Jonathan Steel ‘ L _ = 734 26 July 2004

As explained above, the SIP operates through a trust, and the free shares must be held in trust for a period of between
three and five years from the date of grant. '

By Order of the Board

Caroline Marland

Chair of the Remuneration Committee
26May 2005
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS RESP( ILITIES

UnitedKingdom company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial period which

give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at the end of the financial period and of the profit

or loss of the Group for that period. in preparing those financial statements, the directors are required to:

~select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

-make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

- state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed;

- prepare the financial statements on the going concernbasis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group will
continue inbusiness.

Thedirectors areresponsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any

time the financial position of the Group and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the

Companies Act1985. They are also responsibie for the system of internal control, for safeguarding the assets of the

Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2005.

—
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EPENDENT AU

TC THE MEMBERS OF VIRGIN MOBILE HOLDINGS (UK} PLC

We have audited the financial statements of Virgin Mobile
Hoidings {UK) plc for the year ended 31March 2005 which
comprise the profit andloss account, the balance sheets,
the cash flow statement, and the related notes 110 28.
These financial statements have been prepared under the
accounting policies set out therein. We have also audited
the information in the part of the Remuneration Report
thatis described as having been audited.

Thisreportis made solely to the Company's members, as
abody, in accordance with section 235 of the Companies
Act1985. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we
might state to the Company’s members those matters we
arerequired to state totheminanauditors'report and for
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we
donot acceptorassume responsibility to anyone other
thanthe Company and the Company's members as abody,
for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed. :

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As described inthe statement of directors’respaonsibilities,
the Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements in accordance with applicable
United Kingdom law and accounting standards. They
arealsoresponsible for the preparation of the other
information contained in the Annual Report including the
Remuneration Report. Our responsibility is to audit the
financial statements and the part of the Remuneration
Report described as havingbeen audited in accordance
withrelevant United Kingdom legal and

regulatory requirements and auditing standards.
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We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial
statements give a true and fair view and whether the
financial statements and the part of the Remuneration
Report described as having been audited have been
properly preparedin accordance with the Companies Act
1985.We alsoreport to you if, in our opinion, the Directors’
Reportis not consistent with the financial statements, if
the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if
we have notreceived all the information and explanations
we require forour audit, or if information specified by law
regarding directors'remuneration and transactions

with the Companyand other members of the Group is

not disclosed.

We review whether the carporate governance statement
reflects the Company's compliance with the nine provisions
of the July 2003 FRC Combined Code specified for our
review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services
Authority, and wereport if it does not. We are notrequired
to consider whether the Board's statements oninternal
control cover allrisks and controls, or form an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's corporate governance
procedures or its risk and control procedures.

Wereadthe Directors’Report and the other information
contained in the Annual Report for the above year as
described inthe contents section including the unaudited
part of the Remuneration Report and consider the
implications for our report if we become aware of any
apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies
with the financial statements.
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Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit inaccordance with United
Kingdom auditing standards issued by the Auditing
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on atest
basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements and the part of the
Remuneration Report described as having been audited.

It also inciudes an assessment of the significant estimates
and judgements made by the directors in the preparation
of the financial statements and of whether the accounting
policies are appropriate to the circumstances of the
Company and the Group, consistently apptied and
adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as tc obtain all
the information and explanations which we considered
necessary inorder to provide us withsufficient evidence
togive reasonable assurance that the financial statements
and the part of the Remuneration Report described as
having been audited are free from material misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or otherirregularity or error. In
forming our opinion, we also evaluated the overall
adequacy of the presentation of informationin the
financial statements and the part of the Remuneration
Reportdescribed as having been audited.

*

i
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Opinion

In our opinion:

~the financial statements give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at
31March 2005 and of the profit of the Group for the year
thernended; and )

- the financial statements and part of the Remuneration
Report described as having been audited have been
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act1985.

Dotoctte o Tovcha 1P

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London

26 May 2005




ACCOUNTS

12monthsended 3Imonthsended

N 31March2005  31March 2004
Note £000 £000
Turnover before exceptional item 521,296 122,848
Exceptional turnover 3 - 1,001
Turnover 2 521,296 123,849
Costofsales . B _ (301.624) (68,891)
Gross profit N 219672 54958
Administrative expenses before exceptional operating costs {136,825) {32,246)
Excepticnal operating costs 3 {15,189} -
Administrativeexpenses {1 520]_4} - _(312_2_4_6)
Operating profitbefore operating exceptional items 82847 21m
Exceptionalitems . 3 (15.189) 1,001
Operating profit . 67,658 22712
Finance charges (net) . . 4 {14543 (1.903)
Profiton ordinary activities before taxation 5 5315 20,809
Tax on profit on ordinary activities o B 7 {18,372) {5.987)
Profit for the financial period N o 34,743 14,822
Equity dividends 8 {12,343} -
Retained profit for the financial period 22,400 14822
Earnings per ordinary share g 13.8p 59p
Diluted earnings per ordinary share 9 13.6p 59p
Underlying earnings per ordinary share 9 18.4p 5.6p

Allamounts derive from continuing operations.
There were no other recognised gains and losses in these periods.
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AS AT 31 MARCH 2005
31March2005 3} March 2004
Note £000 £000
Fixed assets
Tangible assets 11 21,059 26532
Current assets
Stocks 13 5,941 10,801
Debtors 4 24,253 39,865
Deferred tax asset 14 17.821 36,193
Cashatbank andinhand 13,220 37481
61,235 124340
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 15 (141154) (445,681)
Net current liabilities (79.919) (321341)
Total assets less current liabilities (58.8560) (294,@)
Creditors: amounts falling due after more thanone year 16 {200,625) {1,201
Netliabilities (259.485) (296,010}
Capital andreserves
Called up share capital 18 25,293 25,000
Share premium account . 19 15,859 1,870
Mergerreserve } 19 {328,348) (247.784)
Profit and loss account 19 27.M (85.096)
Accumulated deficit 20 {259,485) {296,010)

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 26 May 2005 and signed on its behaif by:

,'D.A

AlanGaw
Chief Financiat Officer
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ACCOUNTS

3TMarch2005  31March2004

- Note £'000 £'000
Fixed assets :
Investments 12 52.028 -
Currentassets
Debtors 14 23,102 -
Deferredtax asset 14 932 -
Cashatbank andin hand 167 -
24,201 -
Creditors:amounts falling due within one year i5 (17.176) -
Net current assets 7.025 :E
Netassets 59,053 -
!
Capital and reserves *
Called up share capital 18 25,293 -
Share premiumaccount 19 15,859 -
Mergerreserve , 19 11,482 -
Profitand loss account 19 6,419 -
Shareholders’ funds . 59,053 -

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 26 May 2005 and signed onits behalf by:

w3

Alan Gow
Chief Financial Officer
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CONSOL

YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2005

ol STATEMENT

iZmonthsended 3 months ended

31March2005  31March2004

Note £000 £000

Net cash inflow from operating activities 21 90,780 40,069
Returns oninvestments and servicing of finance 22 (12124} (1,460)
Capital expenditure and financialinvestment 22 (1.502) {1.324)

Cashinflow before financing 67,154 g—B_TMZB_S
Financing 22 (91,415) (46,403)
Decreasein cashin the period 23 (24,261) {an8)
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

YEAR ENDED 31MARCH 2005

1. Accounting policies
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with applicable UK accounting standards. The particular accounting
policies adopted, all of whichhave been applied consistently throughout all the periods presented, are described below.

Basis of preparation

During the year, the Group underwent arearganisation. Prior to the reorganisation, the share capital of Virgin Mobile
Telecoms Limited, the principal operating company of the Group, was divided into anumber of different classes of shares.
As part of the reorganisation, two further companies were added to the Group. Virgin Mobile Holdings {UK) plc, the
holding company of the Group, owns 100% of the shares in Virgin Mobile Group (UK} Limited which is also the borrower
under the new credit facility whichwas enteredinto on 2 July 2004. Virgin Mobile Group (UK) Limited in turn owns 100% of
the shares in Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited, whichhave beenreorganised into one class. The reorganisation involved a
number of share transfers at market value the consideration for which was either anissue of shares in Virgin Maobile
Holdings (UK} plc or cash.

This reorganisation has been accounted for as a group reorganisation in accordance with Financiat Reporting Standard 6
"Acquisitions and mergers” ("FRS 6"). The difference between the cost of investment in Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited
and the share capital of Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited that arises on consolidation has been treated as amerger
reserve in accordance with FRS 6. This merger reserve only arises upon consolidation and does not impact the level of
distributable reserves within the Group. Inaccordance with FRS 6, the financial statements have been prepared fer all
periods as if the group reorganisation had occurredbefore 1 January 2004. Therefare the balances payable to the
previous VirginMobile Telecoms Limited shareholders that arose through the group recrganisation have beenincluded
within the comparative balance sheets, and finance costs of non-equity shares have been excluded from the comparative
profit and loss account.

On 29 July 2004, the High Court granted an order confirming the reduction of the share premium account by £80,564,000
of its operating company subsidiary, Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited. This has been accounted for in the consotidated
balance sheet as amovement inreserves between the merger reserve and profit and loss account in the year ended
31March 2005.

This share reduction and group reorganisation has been accounted for using merger accounting principles, inorder to
meet the overridingrequirement under section 227(6) of the Companies Act 1985 for financial statements to present
atrue and fair view. The transaction does not meet one of the conditions for merger accounting under the Companies Act
1985, namely that the fair value of any non-equity consideration must not exceed 10% of the nominal value of equity
shares issued. However, the Directors consider that the alternative approach of acquisition accounting, with the
restatement of separable assets and liabilities to fair values, the creation of goodwill and inclusion of post-reorganisation
results only, would not give a true and fair view of the Group's results and financia! position. The substance of the
transactionwas not the acquisition of abusiness but a group reorganisation under which a new holding company has
been established with all the former ordinary shareholders of the Group having the same proportionate interestin

the new holding company as they had previously heldin the Group. The Directors consider that it is not practicable to
quantify the effect of this departure from the Companies Act 1985 requirements.
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1. Accounting pelicies {continued)

Basis of consolidation

The group accounts consolidate the accounts of Virgin Mobile Holdings (UK} plcand its subsidiary undertakings drawn

up to 31March each year. The results of subsidiaries acquired are consolidated for the periods fromwhich control passed.
Acguisitions are accounted for under the acquisition method.

Turnover
Turnover represents amounts receivable for handset and airtime services providedin the normal course of business,
net of VAT and trade discounts.

Handsets and other equipment turnover is recognised based on the amounts receivahle at the date of sale. Airtime
turnover derived from customers is recognised based on the usage of the network in the period. Prepaid airtime sales
are deferred untif the customer uses the stored value.

Subscriber acquisition costs
Subscriber acquisition costs, which include the commission costs associated with acquiring new customers and other
incremental costs of customer acquisition, are recognisedin the profit and loss account as incurred,

Finance costs
Finance costs of debt arerecognised in the profit andloss account over the term of suchinstruments at a constantrate
onthe carryingamount.

Taxation
Corporation taxis provided on taxable profits at the currentrate. No charge is made for group rellef inrespect of losses
claimed or surrendered to and from other group companies.

Deferred taxis providedin full on all timing differences whichresultinan obligation at the balance sheet date to pay
more tax, or aright to pay less tax, at a future date, at rates expected to apply when they crystallise based on current tax
rates and laws. Timing differences arise from the inclusion of items of income and expenditure in taxation coamputations
in periods different from those in which they are included in the financial statements. Deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is regarded as more likely than not that they will be recavered. Deferred tax assets and liahilities are
notdiscounted.

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost, net of depreciation and any provision for impairment. Depreciationis provided
onalltangible fixed assets atrates calculated to write off the cost or valuation, less estimated residual value, of each
asset onastraight-line basis over its expected usefutlife, as follows:

Leasehold improvements 3years
Computer systems 2-3years
Fixtures and fittings 3years
Office equipment 3years

Residual value is calculated on prices prevailing at the date of acquisition. Depreciationis not charged on assets
inthe course of construction until they are ready for service.
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NOTESTO THE ACCOUNTS

1. Accounting policies (continued)

Investments

Fixed asset investments are shown at cost less provision for impairment. Current asset investments are stated at lower
of castand net realisable value.

Stocks
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net reatisable value is based on the estimated selling
price, less further direct selling costs. Provisionis made for obsolete, slow-moving or defective items where appropriate.

Leases

Assets obtained under hire purchase contracts or finance feases are capitalised in the balance sheet. Those held under
hire purchase contracts are depreciated over their useful economic lives. Those held under finance leases are depreciated
aver their estimated useful lives or the leases’term, whichever is shorter. The interest element of these obligations

is charged to the profit and loss account over the relevant period. The capital element of the future payments is treated
asaliability.

Rentals under operatingteases are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term, eveniif the payments are not
made onsuchabasis. Benefits received andreceivable as anincentive to signan operating lease are similarly spread on
astraight-line basis over the lease term, except where the period to the review date onwhich therent is first expected
tobe adjustedto the prevailing market rate is shorter than the full lease term, in which case the shorter periodis used.

Pension costs

The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme. For defined contribution schemes the amount charged to

the profit and loss account in respect of pension costs and other post-retirement benefits is the contributions payable
inthe period. Differences between contributions payable in the period and contributions actually paid are shown as either
accruals or prepayments in the balance sheet.

Share options

Following the issuance of Financial Reporting Standard 20“Share based payments” (“FRS 20} the Group has elected
toadopt this standard early in line with the recommendation of the Accounting Standards Board and in order to avoid
achange in the Group's accounting policy for share based payments in future periods. All autstanding equity instruments
at the balance sheet date have been accounted for using FRS 20. The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments
to certain employees. These share based payments are measured at fair value at the date of grant. The fair value
determined is expensed on a straight line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate of shares that will
vest. The amount chargedto the profit andloss account is alsc included as movement inreserves.

Fair value is measured by use of the “Stochastic Model’, which determines fair value based onrunninga number
of different scemarios for future share prices. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on
management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural
considerations,

The Group has no cash-settled share-based payment schemes.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

Foreign currency

Transactions inforeign currencies are recorded at the rate of exchange at the date of the transaction or, if hedged,
at the forward contract rate. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet
date are reported at the rates of exchange prevailing at that date or, if appropriate, at the forward contractrate.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to reduce exposure to interest rate movements and foreign exchange risk.
The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

For aninterest rate swap to be treated as ahedge the instrument must be related to actual assets or liabilities

or aprobable commitment and must change the nature of the interestrate by converting a fixed rate to avariable rate
or vice versa. interest differentials under these swaps are recognised by adjusting netinterest payable over the periods
of the contracts.

Foraforward contract to be treated as a hedge the instrument must be related to actual foreign currency assets

or liabilities or to a probable commitment. It must involve the same currencies or similar currencies as the hedgeditem
andmust alsoreduce the risk of foreign exchange movements on the Group's operations. Gains and losses arising on these
contracts are only recognised in the profit and loss account when the hedged transaction itself has beenreflectedin

the Group's accounts.

If aninstrument ceases to be accounted for as ahedge, for example because the underlying hedged posttionis eliminated,
the instrument is marked to market and any resulting profit or loss recognised at that time.

2.Segmental information

The Group's operations and markets are located within the United Kingdom and form a singte segment with two types
of product: service and equipment.
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3.Exceptionalitems
1Zmonthsended 3 months ended
31March2005  31March 2004

£000 £000
Capital restructuring and PO related expenses (6.320) -
Pre-IPO employee share options scheme cost {8,869) -
Revenue for previously disputed marketing support contributions - 1,001
Total exceptional (expenses)income - (15.189) 1,001

The cashexpense for £6,320,000 relates to expenditure by the Group withrespect to the group reorganisation
undertaken and the Initial Public Offering (*IPO")in the year.

Thenon-cash expense for £8,869,000 relates to the implementation of the pre-IPO share option scheme under which
share options were granted to employees as areward for growing the business inthe period from launch until the PO,

As aresult of the settlement of various disputes involving Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited, T-Mobile and certain

Virgin Group companies, Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited was entitled to receive certain amounts for previously disputed
marketing support contributions that would be determined following future proceedings. The amount was determined
with certainty prior to the approval of the financial statements for the three months ended 31 March 2004 and £1,001,000
was recognised as turnover in the results for this period for previously disputed marketing support contributions for the
periodended 31 March 2004.

4. Finance charges(net
g ( ) 12monthsended 3 monthsended
31March2005 31 March 2004

£000 £000

Interest payable on:
Bank toans and overdrafts (14.392) (898)
Finance leases (2) (2}
Loans from related companies (830) {754)
Loans fram previous shareholder (830) {754)
interest payable and similar charges - (16.054) (2,408)
Interest receivable and similar income 1,511 205

(14,543) (1,903)
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5.Profitonordinary activities before taxation
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation is stated after charging:

12monthsended 3Imonths ended
31 March2005 31 March 2004
£'000 £000

Depreciation and amounis written of f tangible fixed assets:
—0Owned assets 17428 4294
-Leasedassets 8 2

Operating lease rentals

-Leasehold property 1187 297
Auditors’ remuneration for audit services 245 131
Auditors' remuneration for non-audit services 1382 200

Of the £1,382,000 for auditors’remuneration for non-audit services, £1,300,000relates to services providedin respect

of the capitalrestructuring and IPO undertaken by the Group during the year.

6.5taff costs
The average monthly number of employees (including executive directors) was:

12monthsended 2 meonths ended

3 March2005  31March 2004
Distribution 270 173
Marketing 55 53
Administration 1131 1,026
1456 1,252

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:
£000 £'000
Wagesandsalaries 47,268 8,779
Soctal security costs 4141 862
Other pension costs (seenote 25) ] 1125 261
52,534 9,902

Of the £47,268,000 for wages and salaries, £8,869,000 relates to an exceptional operating expense for the

implementation of the pre-IPO share option scheme under which share options were granted to employees as areward

for growing the business in the period from launch until the IPO (see notes 3 and 26).

Details of Directors’remuneration and interests are provided in the Remuneration Report on pages 59 to 60.
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NOTESTO THE ACCOUNTS

7.Tax on profit on ordinary activities
The tax charge for the period comprises:

1Zmonthsended 3 months ended
31March2005  31March 2004
£000 E000
Current tax

UK corparation tax - -
Total current tax - -

Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of timing differences (18,372) {5,987)
Totaldeferred tax (see note 14) {18,372 {5,987)
Total tax charge on profit on ordinary activities {18,372) {5.987)

The differences between the total current tax shown above and the amount calculated by applying the standard rate

of UK corporation tax to the profit before tax is as follows:

1Zmonthsended 3 months ended

31March2005  31March2004
£000 £000
Profit onordinary activities before tax 53115 20,809
Tax on profit onordinary activities at standard UK corporation tax rate of 30% (2004 - 30%) 15,935 6.243
Effects of: :
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1173 58
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances 1,982 529
Timing differencesinrespect of share options 2,256 -
Utilisation of brought forward losses u(21,346) {6,830)

Current tax charge

8.Dividend per share

12monthsended 3 months ended

31March2005  31March 2004

£000 £'000

Final dividend of 4.88p (3 months ended 31March 2004 - nil}per ordinary share. 12,343 -
12,343 -
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9.Earnings per ordinary share

12monthsended 3 months ended
3TMarch2005  31March2004

£000 £000
Earnings
Profit for the period 34,743 14,822
Number of ordinary shares (000s) 250919 250,000
Earnings per ordinary share
Basic 13.8p 5.9p
Diluted 13.6p 59p
Earnings
Profit for the period 34,743 14,822
Exceptionatitems 15,189 (1,0071)
Tax effect of exceptionalitems (3.646) 300
Underlying earnings 46,286 14121
Underlying earnings per ordinary share 184p 5.6p

Due to the group reorganisation as described innote 1, the number of ordinary shares used to calculate earnings

per ordinary share for all periods is based upon the 250,000,000 ordinary shares inissue following the group
reorganisation, and adjustedin the current period for subsequent ordinary share issues. Similarly, the earnings used to
calculate earnings per share for the comparative period exclude the finance costs of non-equity shares inissue at the time.

The diluted earnings per share for the current year includes the impact of 4,535,000 outstanding ordinary share options
orrights to ordinary shares at 31 March 2005.

10. Profit attributable to Virgin Mobile Holdings (UK) pic

The retained profit for the year ended 31 March 2005 dealt within the financial statements of the company, Virgin Mobile
Holdings (UK) plc, was £3,306,000 {three months ended 31 March 2004 - £nil). As permitted by Section 230 of the
Companies Act 1985, no separate profit and loss account is presented in respect of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

N.Tangible fixed assets

{ easehold Fixtures Office Computer

improvements and fittings equipment systems Tatal
Group £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost
At April 2004 7797 773 417 65,821 74,808
Additions 50 218 5 10,519 10,792
Transter from current assets - - - 2,594 2594
Disposals - - - (185) {185)
At31March 2005 7,847 991 422 78,749 88,009
Accumulated depreciation
At1April 2004 7777 70 319 39,479 48,276
Charge for the period 20 80 50 17,286 17,436
Transfer from current assets - - - 1,297 1,297
Disposals - - - (59) (59]
At31March 2005 7,797 781 369 58,003 66,950
Net book value
At31March 2005 50 210 53 20,746 21,059
At 3tMarch 2004 20 72 98 26342 26532
Tangible fixed assets for the Group include computer equipment and office equipment at a cost of £663,000
(3t March 2004 - £663,000) and net book value of £11,000 {31 March 2004 - £17,000) in respect of assets held under
afinancelease. Computer systems for the Group includes £2,702,000 (31 March 2004 - £4,690,000) of assets inthe
course of construction.
12.Fixed asset investments
Company £000
At1 April 2004 -
Additions 52028
At31March 2005 52,028

The additions during the year represent the effect of the group reorganisation as described innote 1.
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12.Fixed asset investments (continued)

Principal group investments
The Company and the Group have investments in the following subsidiary undertakings, which principally affected the

profit or losses or net assets of the Group. All holdings are 100% of the equity share capital.

Name Country of incorporation Nature of business
Virgin Mobile Group (UK) Limited* England Holding company
VirginMabile Telecoms Limited . England Telecoimns services
Bluebottle Call Limited England Property holding

*Held directiy by Virgin Mobile Holdings (UK) plc

13.Stocks
Group
31March2005  31March 2004
£000 £000
Finished goods held for resaie 5,541 10,801

14.Debtors

Group Company
31March2005  31March2004  31March2005  31March 2004
£000 £'000 £000 £00D
Trade debtors 18,667 28,370 - -
Amounts owed by other related companies {see note 27} 1,291 7515 - -
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings -~ - 23,099 -
Prepayments and accrued income 4,295 3,980 3 -

24,253 30,865 23102 -

The Company balance sheetincludes £2 due from its parent company at 31 March 2004.

A1 B
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14.Debtors (continued)
The deferred tax asset at 31 March 2005 and 31 March 2004 is made up as follows:

Group Company

31March7005 31March2004 31March2005  31March 2004

£000 £'000 £'000 £000

Unrelieved trading losses - 31,673 - -
Accelerated capital allowances 15,527 4,520 - -
Timing differences in respect of share options 2,294 - 932 -
17821 36,193 932 -

Of the Group's deferred tax asset of £17,821,000,£13,034,000(31March 2004 - £14,506,000) is due after more thanone
year. Of the Company's deferred tax asset of £932,000, £553,000 (31 March 2004 - £nil) is due after more than one year.

The movementinthe deferred tax asset during the year is as follows:

Group Company

£'000 £000

At1April 2004 36,193 -

Additions 5532 a32

Utilised during the year {23.904) -

: {Charge)credit to profit and loss account {18,372) 932
1 At31March 2005 17,821 932
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15. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

: Group Company

3March 2005  31March2004  31March2005  31March2004

£000 £000 £'000 £'000

Bank loans 49,490 23,012 - -
Previous shareholder loan - 38,375 - -
Loan from original Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited shareholders - 240,969 - -
Obligations under finance leases 3 b - -
Trade creditors 25,298 17963 31 -
Amounts owed to other related companies (see note 27} 2,077 40,558 - -
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings - - 3629 -
Other taxation and social security 6.833 4,454 56 -
Other creditors 104 94 - -
Accruals and deferred income 45,006 80,250 117 -
Proposed dividends 12,343 - 12,343 -
141,154 445,681 17176 -

During the year ended 31 March 2005 the Group repaid in full the syndicated loan facility outstanding at 31 March 2004.
On 2 July 2004, Virgin Mobile Group (UK) Limited, a subsidiary of Virgin Mobile Holdings (UK) plc, entered into a
£350million credit facility. £330 million, net of £3.3 millionissue costs, of this credit facility was drawn downin

Juty 2004 and 280 million has been repaid by 31 March 2005. The credit facility is secured on the share capital and
assets of the Virgin Mobile Group (UK) Limited group.

For further details of theinterest rate profile and maturity of financial liabilities, see note 17.

16.Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Group
31March2005 31 March2004
£000 £000
Bank loans 197,959 -
Obligations under finance leases : 7 10
Accruals anddeferred income 2,659 1,191
200625 1201

The net finance lease obligations to which the Group are committed and which are secured on the related assets are:
Group
31March2005 31 March 2004
£000 £000
Inoneyearorless 3 6
Between one and two years i 7 10
10 16
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

17.Derivatives and other financial instruments

Setouthelowis an explanation of the role financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the
risks the Group facesinits activities. The explanation summarises the objectives and policies for holding or issuing
financial instruments and simifar contracts, and the strategies for achieving those objectives that have been followed
during the period.

The Group has established treasury policies which are reviewed annually by the Board or Audit Committee to ensure they
remainrelevant torapid business change. The major financial risks faced by the Group are foreign currency risk, interest
rate exposure and liquidity risk. These are outlined helow:

Foreign currency risk

About one-third of the handset purchases made by the Group are from suppliers in continental Europe. These purchases
areinvoiced in Euros. The Group's policy is to eliminate some currency expasure on purchases at the time of purchase
through forward currency contracts. Ail other purchases are denominated in sterling.

Interestraterisk

The Group has entered into interest rate swaps to hedge against adverse movements inLIBOR inrelation to its credit
facility. The Group's policy is to keep between 50% and 75% of the credit facility borrowing at fixed rates of interest.

As at 31 March 2005, 60% of the credit facility was covered by fixed rate interest rate swaps. The numerical disclosures
inthis note deal with financial assets and financial liabilities as defined in Financial Reporting Standard 13 “Derivatives

and other financiat instruments: Disclosures” {“FRS 13"). Certain financial assets such as investments in subsidiary and
associated companies are excluded from the scope of these disclosures. The loan from the original Virgin Mobile Telecoms
Limited shareholders of £240,969,000 that arose through the group reorganisation, as described innote 1, and has been
included within the comparative balance sheet has also been excluded from the scope of these disclosures. As permitted
by FRS13, short term debtors and creditors have been excluded from the disclosures, other than the currency disclosures.

Liquidityrisk

The Group's overall objective is to ensure that it is, at all times, able to meet its financial commitments as and when

they fall due. To this end, surplus funds are collected and invested with approved counter-parties, within authorised limits,
with the aim of maintaining short term liquidity while maximising yield.
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17. Derivatives and other financial instruments {continued)

Currency exposures
As at 31March 2005, after taking into account the effects of forward foreign exchange contracts the Group had no

currency exposures (31 March 2004 - Enil).

Interest rate profile
The Group has no financial assets other than cash at bank. Alt financiat liabilities are denominated in sterling.
After takinginto account interest rate swaps, the interestrate profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 March 2005

and 31 March 2004 was as follows:

31March 2005 31March 2004

Total Floating rate Fixedrate Total Floatingrate Fixedrate

£000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000

Borrowings 250,010 250,000 10 99,778 76,750 23,028

As at 31 March 2005, the Group had entered into an interest rate swap agreement, which has resulted in 60% of the credit
facility beinghedged at the year end. This interest rate swap agreement allows the interestrate to be fixed an a quarterly
basis at arate betweenan upper and a lower level. Although FRS13 treats interest rates under this interest rate swap
agreement as floating rates, the Board views the interest rates as fixed rates in line with the Group’s treasury policy.

As at 31 March 2004, all previously entered into interest rate swap agreements for borrowings had expired. The weighted
averagerate of interest onthe outstanding syndicated toanfacility, as at 31 March 2004, was 6% and was fixed for six
months. The interest rate on the floating rate shareholder and previous shareholder loans was fixed ona quarterly basis
at 4% above the three month LIBOR rate. These toans were repaid in fullon 5 July 2004.

Maturity of financial liabitities
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 March 2005 and 31 March 2004 was as follows:

31March 2005  31March2004
Total Borrowings Total Borrowings

£000 £000

Inoneyear or less 50,003 99,768
Inmore than one year but not more than two years 50,007 10
Inmore than twa years but not more than five years 100,000 -
Inmorethan five years 50,000 -
o 250,010 99,778

Credit facility issue costs (2.551) -
Total 247,459 99,778
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17. Derivatives and other financial instruments (continued)

Issue costs inrespect of the credit facility were £3,300,000 and are being recognised in the profit and loss account aver
the term of the credit facility ata constant rate on the carrying amount. As at 31March 2005, £2,551,000 of these costs

had not beenrecognised in the profit and {oss account, of which £510,000 relates to amounts falling due within one year
and £2,041,000 relates to amounts falling due after more than one year.

Borrowing facilities
The Group had undrawn committed borrowing facilities at 31 March 2005 and 31 March 2004 in respect of whichall
conditions precedent had been met, as follows:

3NMarch2005  31March 2004
£000 £000

Expiring in more than two years 100,000 10,000

Fair values
Set out below is a comparison by category of book values and fair values of the Group’s financial liabilities
at 31March 2005 and 31 March 2004.

31March 2005 31March 2004
Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
£000 £000 £000 £'000
Primary financial instruments held erissued
tofinance the Group’s operations
Short term financial liabilities and current portion of long term borrowings 49,493 50,783 99,768 99,952
Longtermborrowings 197,966 203,478 10 10
Derivative financial instruments held to manage
the interest rate and currency profile
Interestrate swaps - 540 - -
Forward foreign exchange contracts - (3) - 105

The fair value of the interest rate swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts have been determined by reference

to prices available from the markets on which the instrument inveolvedis traded. All the other fair values shown above
have been calculated by discounting cash flows at prevailing interest rates. As at 31 March 2004, the Group believed that
the fair value of the shareholder and previous shareholder loans approximate their book value.

82 Virgin Mobile Annual Report & Accounts 2005




17. Derivatives and other financial instruments {continued)

Gains and losses on hedges

The Group enters into forward foreign currency contracts to eliminate some of the currency exposures that arise on
purchases denominated in foreign currencies. It also uses interest rate swaps to manage its interestrate profile. Changes
in the fair value of instruments used as hedges are not recognised in the accounts until the hedged position matures.
Ananalysis of the unrecognised gains andlosses for the year ended 31 March 2005 is as follows:

31March 2005
Gains Losses Net
£'000 £000 €000
Unrecognised gains and losses on hedges at 1 April 2004 - 1G5 135
Gains and losses arising in previous years that were recognised
inthe year ended 31 March 2005 - {105} (H5)
Gains and losses arising before 1 April 2004 that were not recognised
inthe year ended 31 March 2005 - - -
(ains and losses arising in the year ended 31 March 2005 that were not recognised
inthe year ended 31 March 2005 3 540 537
Unrecognised gains and losses onhedges at 31 March 2005 -3 540 537
Gf which:
Gains and losses expected to be recognised in the year ending 31 March 2006 3 196 193
Gains and losses expected to be recognised after 31 March 2006 - 344 344
An analysis of the unrecognised gains and losses for the three months ended 31 March 2004 is as follows:
31 Mareh 2004
Gains Losses Net
£000 £000 £000
Unrecognised gains and losses anhedges at 1 January 2004 - 163 163
Gains and losses arising in previous years that were recognised
inthe three months ended 31 March 2004 - (163) 163)
Gains and losses arising before 1 January 2004 that were notrecognised )
inthe three months ended 31 March 2004 - - -
Gains and losses arising in the three months ended 31 March 2004 that were not recognised
inthe three months ended 31 March 2004 - 105 105
Unrecognised gains and losses on hedges at 31 March 2004 - 105 105
Of which:
Gains and losses expected to be recognised in the year ending 31March 2005 - 105 15

Gains and losses expected tobe recognised after 31March 2005 - - -
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18.Called up share capital

Group
31March2005  31March 2004
£000 £000
Authorised:
330,000,000 (31 March 2004 ~330,000,000) ordinary shares of £0.10 each 33,000 33,000
Allotted and fully paid:
252,935,948 (31 March 2004 - 250,000,000} ordinary shares of £0.10 each 25,293 25,000

Due to the groupreorganisation as described innote 1, the number of ordinary shares in existence at the beginning
of the period is based on the 250,000,000 ordinary shares inissue following the group reorganisation. The movement
inthe current period arose from the exercise of share options.

Company
31March 2005 31 March 2004
£000 £000

Authorised:
1,000 ordinary shares of £1each - 1
330,000,000 ordinary shares of £0.10 each 33,000 -
33.000 1

Allotted and fully paid:
2 ordinary shares of £1each -

252,935,948 ordinary shares of £0.10 each 25,293 _ -
25293 -
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18.Called up share capital {continued)

0n16 June 2004, the Company subdivided its authorised share capital of 1,000 ordinary shares of E1 each into 100,000
shares of £0.01 each and 798 ordinary shares of £0.01 each were issued to Virgin Management Limited, the Company's
immediate parent. Subsequently, Virgin Management Limited sold all of its 998 shares to Bluebottle Investments (UK)
Limited, which then became the immediate parent of the Company.

Alsoon16 June 2004, as part of the group reorganisation, the Company acquired various shares in Virgin Mobile Telecoms
Limited, the consideration for which was the issue and atlotment of two ordinary shares of £0.01 each in the capital
of the Company.

On1July 2004, the Company consolidated its authorised share capital of 100,000 ordinary shares of £0.01 eachinto
10,000 ordinary shares of £0.10 each. The authorised share capital of the Company was thenincreased from £1,000

to £33,000,000 by the creation of 329,990,000 additional ordinary shares of £0.10 each, The Company used its share
premium account tathe amount of £24,529,731 to pay in full at par 245,297,307 unissued ordinary shares of £0.10 each,
and these shares were issued and aliotted to the sole holder of the ordinary shares inissue, Bluebottle Investments (UK)
Limited, as abonus issue.

On 20 July 2004, also as part of the group reorganisation, the Company acquired further various shares in Virgin Mobile
Telecoms Limited, the consideration for which was cash and the issue and allotment of 4,702,593 ordinary shares of £0.10

each in the share capital of the Company.

Further movements inthe current period arose from the exercise of share options.
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18.Called up share capital {continued) 1
Share options i
The Group has issued the following options to purchase ordinary shares in the Company:
Number Nurnber l
of options of options
Exerciseprice outstanding outstanding l
pershare Exercisable Expiry N March 3MMarch
Date options granted from date 2005 2004
Pre-IPO Plan (Pre-IPO Plan) 1
" 8luly 2004 145868  26July 2004 8 luly 2014 3,032,102 ~ ‘
8 July 2004 145868 31March 2005 8luly2014 5968050 - 1
: 9,000152 -
Savings Related Share Option Plan{Sharesave) I
10ctober 2004 1683 10ctober 2007 1April 2008 1,036,428 - 1
Discretionary Share Option Plan {DSOP) 1
26 july 2004 191 26]July 2007 26 July 2017 1,501,999 -
i
Performance Share Plan {PSP)
27 July 2004 nil  27July2007 27 January 2008 1,109,132 - 1
Total outstanding options 12,647.711 -
For further details of the share optionschemes, see note 26.
19.Reserves
Share Profit
premium Merger andloss
account Reserve account Total
Group £000 £000 £000 £000
At Aprit 2004 11,870 (247,784) {85,096} {321,010
Reduction of share premium account of subsidiary _ - {80,564) 80,564 -~
Issue of share capital arising from the exercise of share options 3988 - - 3,989
Charges inrespect of employee share schemes - - 9,843 9,843
Retained profit for the year - - 22,400 22,400
At 31March 2005 15,859 (328,348) 27,71 (284,778)
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19. Reserves (continuad)

Share Profit
premium Merger andoss
account Reserve account Total
Company £000 £000 £'000 £000
At April 2004 - - - -
Issue of share capital arising from the group reorganisation (see note 1) 11870 n482 - 23,352
Issue of share capital arising from the exercise of share options 3989 - - 3,989
Charges inrespect of employee share schemes - 313 313
Retained profit for the year - - 3,306 3,306
At 31March 2005 15,859 11,482 5,419 33,760
20.Reconciliation of movements in group shareholders’ funds
12monthsended 3 monthsended
31March2005  31March2004
£000 £000
Profit for the financiai pericd 34,743 14,822
Dividends payable {12,343} -
Charges inrespect of employee share schemes 9,843 -
Issue of ordinary shares 4282 -
Net movemnent to accumulated deficit 36,525 14822
Opening accumulated deficit (296,0t0) (310,832)
Closing accumutated deficit (259,485) (296,010)
21.Reconciliation of operating profit to operating cash flows
12monthsended 3 months ended
31March2005 31 March 2004
£000 £000
Operating profit 67,658 22712
Depreciationcharges 17436 4,296
Lass (gain) ondisposal of fixed assets 126 (76)
Non cash charges inrespect of employee share schemes 9,843 -
Decreaseinstocks ' 4860 [4,234)
Decreaseindebtors 14,315 30,785
{Decrease}increditors (23,458) (13,334)
Net cashinflow from operating activities 90,780 40,069
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

22. Analysis of cash flows

12 monthsended 3 months ended o
31March2005  31March 2004

£000 £000
Returns oninvestments and servicing of finance;
Interest received 151 505 !
Interest paid {13.633) {1.963)
Interest element of finance lease rentals (2 {2} !
Net cash outflow fromreturns on investments and servicing of finance o (12.124) - “(—1.4—60}
|
Capital expenditure and financiatinvestment: |
Purchase of tangible fixed assets ' M,502) (1.447) '
Proceeds from disposal of tangible fixed assets - 123 .
Net cash outflow from capital expenditure and financial investment S 502) (1329) !
1
Financing: '
Increase in new credit facility, net of issue costs 326,700 -
Repayment of old syndicated loan and new credit facility {103,012) (46,400)
Repayment of sharehotder and previous shareholder foans (78.410) -
Repayment of loan from original Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited shareholders (240,969) -
Issue of share capital : 4282 -
Repayment of capital element of finance lease (6) (3)
Net cash outflow from financing ' (91415) (46403}
23, Analysis and reconciliation of net debt
Other
1April non-cash 3 March
2004 Cash flow changes 2005
£000 £000 £600 £'000
Cashinhand, at bank 37481 {24.,261) -~ 13,220
Debt due within one year and after one year {(340,731) 95,691 (2,409) (247,449)
Finance lease (16} 6 ~ {109)
Netdebt (303.266) 71436 (2409)  (234,239)

88 VirginMobile Annual Report & Accounts 2005




23. Analysis and reconciliation of net debt {continued)

12monthsended 3 months ended

31 March 2005

31 March2004

£000 £000
Decrease in cashin the period {24.261) (ons)
Cash drawn down under new credit facility, net of issue costs {326,700) -
Cashused torepay old syndicated loan and new credit facility 103,012 46,400
Cashusedtorepay shareholder and previous sharehalder loans 78,410 -
Cashusedtorepay loan from original Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited shareholders 240,969 -
Cashusedtorepay finance lease b 3
Change in net debt resulting from cash flows 71436 37.285
Other non-cash changes {2,409) (1.508)
Movemnent in net debt in period 69,027 35777
Net debt brought forward (303.266) (339,043)
Net debt at period end (234239)  (303,266)

and previous shareholtder loans were repaid on 5 July 2004.
24 _Financial commitments

Annual minimum lease commitments:

The non-cash changes represent the amortisation of the issue costs for the new credit facility and the interest on the
shareholder and previous shareholder loans that were rolled up into the principal on aquarterly basis. The shareholder

Group
Land and buildings
3tMarch2005  31March2004
£000 £'000

Expiry date
—withinone year - -
—betweentwoand five years - -
—after five years 1,092 1,092
1,092 1,092

25.Pension arrangements
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The Group and company have £nil (31 March 2004 - £nil) of capital commitments contracted but not provided for.

The Group operates a defined contribution scheme for which the pension cost charge for the twelve months ended
31 March 2005 amounted to £1,125,000 {three months ended 31 March 2004 - £261,000).




NOTESTOTHE ACCOUNTS

26.Share based payments

During the year ended 31March 2005 the Group implemented a number of share incentive schemes, being the following:
—the Virgin Mobile Pre-IPO Pan (the “Pre-IPQ Plan"}

- the Virgin Mobile Share incentive Plan (the “SIP”)

- the Virgin Mobile Savings Related Share Option Plan(the “Sharesave”)

- the Virgin Mobile Discretionary Share Option Plan (the “DSOP")

- the Virgin Mobite Performance Share Plan (the “PSP")

Pre-IPOPlan

Under the Pre-IPO Plan, on 8 July 2004 share options were granted to employees to acquire 11,936,100 ordinary shares in
Virgin Mobile Holdings {(UK) plc at an exercise price of £1.45868 per ordinary share. Options granted under the Pre-1PO
Planwere not subject to performance conditions and 50% of the options granted became exercisable on 26 July 2004 with
the remainder becoming exercisable on 31 March 2005. if the options remain unexercised after aperiod of tenyears from
the date of grant, the options expire. Furthermore, if an employee ceased to be employed by the Group, the unvested part
of that employee’s options were forfeited.

1Zmonthsended 3 months ended
31 March2005  31March 2004

— £000 £000
Outstanding at the beginning of the year - -
Granted duringthe year 11,936,100 -
Exercised during the year (2,935,548} -
Outstanding and fully exercisable at the end of the year 9,000,152 -

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised under the Pre-IPO Plan during the
periodwas £2.25. No share options under the Pre-IPO Plan have been forfeited during the year. The options outstanding
at 31 March 2005 continue to have an exercise price of £1.45868, and an average remaining contractual life of 9.3 years.
No share options under any of the other share option schemes have been exercised during the year.

SIP

On 26 July 2004, every employee of the Group (employed on1july 2004 and stillemployed on 26 July 2004) was awarded
free shares in Virgin Mobile Holdings (UK} ptc under the SIP. The award was linked to service history such that each eligible
employeereceived £280 worth of ordinary shares for each year of service with the Group, pro-rated for part years

of service. The ordinary shares for these awards were pravided out of the Virgin Group shareholding.

Sharesave

Under the Sharesave, on10ctober 2004 employees were granted options to acquire 1,036,428 ordinary shares

at anexercise price of £1.683 per ordinary share. Employees choosing to enter this scheme are required to save monthly
amounts through a contractual savings arrangement over a period of three years. At the end of this savings period,

atax freebonus will be paid and employees may either exercise the options within six months or have the savings
andbonus repaid.
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26.Share based payments (continued)

DSOP

Under the DSOP, on 26 July 2004 share options were granted to emplayees to acquire 1,501,999 ordinary shares

in Virgin Mabile Holdings (UK) plc at an exercise price of £1.91 per ordinary share. These options will normally become
exercisable three years after their grant provided that the participantis still employed by the Group at that date, subject
to the satisfaction of pre-determined performance conditions. For the share options granted on 26 July 2004,

the performance condition is based on the three year compound annual growthin the Group’s aggregate normalised
basic earnings per share compared to the retail prices index {“RPI"} over the three year performance period as follows:

Normalised earnings per share per annum Percentage of award that vests

LessthanRP1+3% 0%

RPt+3% 50%

BetweenRPI+3% and RPI+6% Prorata between 50% and 100%
-RPI+6% 0%

The base earnings per share for the options granted under the DSOP has been based on the results for the twelve months
ended 31 March 2004, adjusted for financial effect of the changes in the capital structure and the new telecommunications
supply agreement, and is based on results before exceptional items and normalised for tax.

PSP

Under the PSP, on 27 July 2004 options were granted to employees to acquire 1,109,132 ordinary shares in Virgin Mobile
Holdings (UK} plc for nil payment. These options will normally become exercisable three years after their grant provided
that the participant is still employed by the Group at that date, subject to the satisfaction of pre-determined performance
conditions. For the share options granted on 27 July 2004, the performance condition is based on the three year compound
annual growth in the Group’s aggregate normalised basic earnings per share compared to the RPl over the three year
performance period as follows:

Normalised earnings per share per annum Percentage of award that vests
Lessthan RPI+6% 0%
RPI+6% 25% of awards up to 100% of a participant’s salary
BetweenRPi+6% and RPI+12% Proratabetween 25 % and 100% of awards up to
100% of a participant’s salary
RPI+12% 100% of awards up to 100% of a participant's salary
BetweenRPI +12% and RPI+15% Proratabetween 0% and 100% of that part of anaward
inexcess of 100% of a participant’s salary
RPI+15% 100%

The base earnings per share for the options granted under the PSP has been based on the results for the twelve months
ended 31March 2004, adjusted for financial effect of the changes in the capital structure and the new telecommunications
supply agreement, and is based on results before exceptional items and normalised for tax.
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NOTESTO THE ACCOUNTS

26.5hare based payments {continued)
The fair values of these share incentive schemes have been measured by use of the stochastic model, based on
the following input assumptions:

Pre-IPOPlan 5P Sharesave DSOP PSP
Share price £2.00 £1.9125 £17625 £1.9125 £1.91
Exerciseprice £145868 nil £1.683 £1.91 nil
Expected volatility 37% 37% 37% 37% 37%
Expectedlife 3years Syears  3.25years Byears Jyears
Risk free rate ‘ 5.2% 5.2% 472% 5.2% 51%
Expected dividends 2% 2% 2% 2% 2%

Expected volatility was determined by considering the volatility of other telecommunications companies from
TApril 2002 to the date the share incentive schemes were introduced.

The Group recognised total expenses of £9,843,000 related to equity-settled share-based payment transactions
inthe year ended 31 March 2005 (31 March 2004 - £nil). Of this amount £8,869,000 was recognised as an exceptional
operating expense (see note 3).

27.Related party transactions

Prior to the reorganisation as detailed innote 1, the Directors regarded the Virgin Group shareholders, through various
different Virgin Group companies, as the ultimate controlling party. As part of the reorganisation, two further companies
have been added to the Group. The reorganisation involved a number of share transfers the consideration for whichwas
either an issue of shares in Virgin Mobile Holdings {UK) plc or cash. As a consequence of the reorganisation, the Group
paid£237,293,000 to the Virgin Group shareholders, The following transactions occurred with the Virgin Group during
theyear:

Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, was originally partially financed by a loan facility from
Bluebottle UK Limited, amember of the Virgin Group, on which interest at variable rates accrued. The principat amount
of £38,375,000 was outstanding as at 31 March 2004 and interest accrued until the loan was repaid in full on 5 July 2004.
The total interest for the period was £830,000 (three months ended 31 March 2004 - £754,000). This amount was rolled
up to the principal and the totalloan of £39,205,000 was repaid on 5 fuly 2004.

During the previous period, handset, airtime vouchers and other stock items were sold throughretailer channels wha
aremembers of the Virgin Group. These sales, net of charges with respect to the distribution channels, for the three
months ended 31 March 2004 amounted to £179,000. £6,159,000 remained outstanding, and was subsequently paid,
asat 31March 2004. Sales to Virgin Group retail channels ceased when a full roll-out of Virgin Mobile Stores had taken
place during the three months ended 31 March 2004.
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27.Related party transactions (continuad)

During the year ended 31March 2005, the Group incurred expenses of £3,471,000 {three months ended 31 March 2004 -
£1,230,000) for charges inrespect of Virgin Mobile Stares within various Virgin Retail outlets. Of this amount, £1,161,000
was outstanding at 3t March 2005 (31 March 2004 - £1,591,000). As part of the agreement, Virgin Retail passes through
proceeds fromsales of handsets, vouchers and other stock items to Virgin Mobile. £1,291,000 was due ta Virgin Mobile
inrespect of these proceeds as at 31 March 2005 (31 March 2004 - £1,356,000).

Members of the Virgin Group performed additional services inctuding printing, brand licensing, property rental and
promotion, which were recharged on to the Group. For the year ended 31 March 2005, these amounted to £2,853,000
(three months ended 31 March 2004~ £691,000} of which £624,000 {31 March 2004 - £490,000) remained unpaid as at
31 March 2005.

Virgin Management Limited provided three directors to the Group until 20 July 2004, and one director from then on.
Virgin Management Limited received a£45,000 (three months ended 31 March 2004 - £11,250) consultancy fee for
these executive services. An amount of £34,000 remained outstanding at 31 March 2005 (31 March 2004 - £8,000).

The Group uses some other sundry services provided by members of the Virgin Group. These are transacted on anarm's
lengthbasis under normal commercial terms.

28.Ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party

At 31 March 2005 the immediate parent was Bluebottle Investments (UK) Limited. The uitimate parentis Virgin Group
Investments Limited {VGIL), whose principal shareholders are certain trusts, none of which has a controlling interestin
VGIL. The principal beneficiaries of those trusts are Sir Richard Branson and/ar members of his immediate family. VGIL
is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Due to various shareholder agreements the directors have control of the day
to day operations of the Group. The smatlest group of which the Company is amember and for which group accounts are
drawn up is that of Bluebottle Investments {UK) Limited. The largest group of which the Company is amember and for
which group accounts are drawn up is that of Virgin Holdings Limited. Both Bluebottle investments (UK) Limited and
Virgin Holdings Limited are incorporated in Great Britain and registered in England and Wales. The accounts of these
companies are available to the public and may be obtained from Companies House, Crown Way, Cardiff, CF14 3UZ.
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